Obesity, diabetes, and hospitalization with pneumonia

PhD dissertation

Jette Brommann Kornum



Faculty of Health Sciences Aarhus University

Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital Department of Endocrinology, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital Department of Clinical Microbiology, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital This PhD thesis is based on the following papers:

I. Kornum JB, Thomsen RW, Riis A, Lervang HH, Schønheyder HC, Sørensen HT. Type 2 diabetes and pneumonia outcomes: a population-based cohort study. *Diabetes Care* 2007; 30: 2251-2257.

II. Kornum JB, Thomsen RW, Riis A, Lervang HH, Schønheyder HC, Sørensen HT. Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia: a population-based case-control study. *Diabetes Care* 2008; 31: 1541-1545.

III. Kornum JB, Nørgaard M, Dethlefsen C, Due KM, Thomsen RW, Tjønneland A, Sørensen HT, Overvad K. Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danes aged 50-64. *In preparation*

Preface

The present PhD thesis has been written on the basis of three studies, which were carried out while I was working at the Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital.

This work was made possible due to a number of people. First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors: Reimar W. Thomsen for sharing his comprehensive knowledge and ideas with me in the field of infections and epidemiology, and for his commitment and support throughout the research process; Henrik T. Sørensen for patiently trying to teach me clinical epidemiology and the art of scientific writing; Henrik C. Schønheyder for patiently answering all my questions on microbiology, and Hans-Henrik Lervang for encouraging me to start this project and for his diabetological guidance.

I am grateful for good team work and advice from statisticians Ander Riis, Claus Dethlefsen, and Karen M. Due. Also, I would like to thank Mette Nørggaard and Kim Overvad, who co-authored on the last study.

My sincere thanks also go to all my wonderful colleagues and friends at Department of Clinical Epidemiology for creating a stimulating working atmosphere. Sharing an office with Mette Søggaard, Mette Grønkjær, and Annette Ø. Jensen has been a great pleasure. I would also like to thank Elisabeth Kristoffersen and Hanne Schlosser for taking care of numerous practicalities.

I am deeply indebted to my parents Gerda and Ove Brommann, and my mother-in-law Anna Maria Kornum for their invaluable help in our everyday life and support throughout my time as a PhD student. My warmest thanks go to Peter, my husband, and our three children Maria, Christian, and Clara. Their love, encouragement, and support made it possible for me to carry out the work for this thesis.

I have received financial support from the Western Danish Research Forum for Health Sciences, "Klinisk Epidemiologisk Forskningsfond", the Research Initiative of Aarhus University Hospital, the Danish Obesity Research Center, and the PHD programme at Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital.

Jette Brommann Kornum, September 2009.

Contents

Introduction	4
Introduction to pneumonia: incidence, risk factors, and prognosis	4
Obesity: Definition, prevalence, and risk of pneumonia	10
The link between obesity and type 2 diabetes	17
Diabetes mellitus: definition, prevalence, and association with pneumonia	
Aims of the thesis	
Subjects and Methods	29
Data sources	
Study designs	33
Definition of exposure, outcomes, and confounding factors	
Statistical analyses	39
Results	42
Study I. Type 2 diabetes and pneumonia outcomes	42
Study II. Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia	46
Study III. Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danages 50 to 64.	ies 49
Strengths and weaknesses of the studies	52
Considerations about research design	52
Considerations about bias, confounding and chance	53
Discussion	61
Main conclusions	65
Perspectives	66
Summary	68
Dansk resumé	70
References	72
Appendices	85

Introduction

Pneumonia is a major cause of morbidity, mortality, and costs of care worldwide. Combined with influenza, pneumonia is the eighth leading cause of death in the United States and the most frequent cause of death due to infectious diseases (1). During the past decade, hospitalizations with pneumonia have increased by 20–50% in Western populations (2-4).

Because of population growth, aging, and the increasing prevalence of obesity and physical inactivity, the prevalence of diabetes is rapidly increasing, a phenomenon referred to as "the diabetes epidemic" (5). Diabetes and hyperglycemia are generally thought to be risk factors for infections, but formal epidemiological evidence for any association between diabetes and pneumonia is limited (6). If such an association exists, it will place a large burden on health care systems globally in the future. Obesity, which is closely related to diabetes, has been suggested as a risk factor *per se* for pneumonia (7), but data on the association between obesity and pneumonia risk are sparse and inconsistent.

The three studies described in this thesis examine diabetes and obesity as risk factors for hospitalization with pneumonia, and the association among diabetes, hyperglycemia, and pneumonia in terms of outcome.

Introduction to pneumonia: incidence, risk factors, and prognosis

Pneumonia is defined as "inflammation and consolidation of lung tissue due to an infectious agent" (8). Symptoms suggestive of pneumonia are chills, fever, pleuritic chest pain, cough, and purulent sputum (8). Approximately 20% of patients with community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) are treated as inpatients (9) and 80% to 90% of hospitalized pneumonia cases are CAP (i.e., acquired outside a hospital setting) (3). The long list of potential microbiological agents in pneumonia consists of bacteria, viruses, fungi, and protozoa (10). The most frequent microbiological agent in CAP is *Streptococcus pneumonia*, which accounts for approximately half of all CAP cases requiring admission to a hospital (11;12). Other agents include but are not limited to *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, *Chlamydophila pneumoniae*, *Chlamydophila psittaci*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Legionella pneumophila*, gram-negative bacteria, and respiratory viruses (e.g., influenza virus, parainfluenza virus, adenovirus, respiratory syncytial virus, and coronavirus) (13). Still, in as many as 50% of pneumonia cases, a responsible agent is not found (14). The most common

mechanism through which the microbial agents can reach the lung is by aspiration from the oropharynx. Pneumonia can, however, also occur via inhalation of contaminated droplets, hematogenous spread, or direct spread from a contagious focus (15).

Incidence

Because of the lack of general population-based studies of the incidence of pneumonia, incidence estimates are almost always based on studies of pneumonia-related hospitalization rates. Based on data from the National Hospital Discharge Survey in the USA, Fry et al. reported that the rate of hospitalizations with pneumonia listed as a primary diagnosis increased by 29% between 1988–1990 and 2000–2002, from 17 to 22 episodes per 1000 in persons aged 65 years or older (2). They also found that the prevalence of hospitalized older adults with pneumonia, who had chronic cardiac disease, chronic pulmonary disease, or diabetes, rose from 66% during 1988–1990 to approximately 80% during 2000–2002. Trotter et al. used a database with information on all admissions to the National Health Service hospitals in England and found that the age-standardized incidence of hospitalizations with a primary diagnosis of pneumonia increased by 34%, from 1.48 to 1.98 per 1000 between 1997–1998 and 2004–2005 (4). A similarly increasing hospitalization rate has also been observed in Denmark. In their population-based study, Thomsen et al. found that the agestandardized rate of hospitalization for pneumonia rose by 50% (from 2.88 per 1000 to 4.42 per 1000) among adults between 1994 and 2003 (3). The increase occurred in all age groups and in both genders.

Risk factors for pneumonia

A risk factor for pneumonia can be defined as an antecedent event, condition, or characteristic that plays a necessary role in the occurrence of some cases of pneumonia (16). According to Rothman, multiple mechanisms can be responsible for a given disease (16). Producing a sufficient causal mechanism for pneumonia requires the joint action of a number of pneumonia risk factors or component causes (17). Exposure to the microbiological agent is only one of a large number of component causes; however, it is also a necessary component in all of the different causal mechanisms for pneumonia.

A number of risk factors have been associated with an increased risk of CAP (Table 1) (7;9;10;18-30). Several of these factors either increase exposure to microbiological agents, increase the likelihood of aspiration, or decrease immunity (31;32). The epidemiological

evidence of obesity and diabetes as risk factors for pneumonia will be discussed in detail on pages 12 and 24.

Increasing age	Stroke
Respiratory	Dementia
Asthma	Myasthenia gravis
Bronchiectasis	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/chronic	Cancer & immune system
bronchitis	Cancer
Congenital defects in ciliary activity	HIV/AIDS
Reduced forced expiratory volume in one second	Malnutrition/underweight
(FEV_1)	Congenital defects in host defenses
Previous respiratory infection	Neutropenia
Chronic renal failure	Environmental/behavioral
Rheumatoid arthritis	Frequent contact with children
Gastrointestinal	Crowding
Esophageal reflux	Cold climate/winter season
Tracheoesophageal fistula	Alcoholism
Esophageal diverticula	Smoking
Esophageal stricture	Drugs
Chronic liver disease	Immunosuppressive therapy
Congestive heart failure	Proton pump inhibitors
Central nervous system	Recemt antibiotic therapy

Table 1. Risk factors for pneumonia (7;9;10;18-30)

Prognosis

A prognosis is a qualitative or quantitative prediction of the outcome of a disease (16). Disease outcomes are often specific events, for example death or complications, or can be quantities such as disease progression, dyspnea, or quality of life (33). Prognostic studies include clinical studies of variables predictive of future events and studies of etiological risk factors (explanatory studies) (34).

In prediction studies, the aim is to predict the probability of the specified outcome with different combinations of predictors in a population (33). Predictors are factors associated (but not necessarily causally associated) with the outcome of a disease. For instance,

confusion may be a useful predictor of pneumonia prognosis but is not likely to be a cause of a poor prognosis. Examples of results from prediction studies used in the clinic are the Pneumonia Severity Index (PSI), CURB, and CURB-65 (described below). In explanatory studies, the aim is to evaluate the causal role of one or more factors while simultaneously controlling for the possible confounding effects of other factors (16).

In the much-cited 1996 meta-analysis of CAP prognosis studies by Fine et al., the mortality (mostly in-hospital) ranged from 5.1% for combined hospitalized and ambulatory patients, to 13.6% for hospitalized patients, and to 36.5% for patients admitted to the intensive care unit (35). More recent cohort studies of CAP patients report unchanged average in-hospital mortality frequencies of 8–15% (12;36-39). In a recent population-based Danish study of 41,793 adults hospitalized with a first-time diagnosis of pneumonia, the mortality within 30 and 90 days of admission was 15.2% and 21.9%, respectively (3). In addition to mortality, patients with pneumonia are at risk of pulmonary complications and severe sepsis/bacteremia. In a US cohort study of all Medicare recipients aged 65 years or older and hospitalized with CAP (n = 623,718), 8–13% developed a pulmonary complication (defined as atelectasis, pneumothorax, empyema, and lung abscess), and 5–8% developed nonpulmonary organ dysfunction (40). Among patients hospitalized for CAP with available blood cultures, the proportion of patients with bacteremia is reported to be approximately 7–9% (41-43).

Scoring systems have been developed and validated to assess the severity of CAP and predict prognosis, including the PSI, CURB, and CURB-65. The PSI, developed in a cohort of 14,199 adult inpatients with CAP, stratifies patients into five risk classes according to the risk of dying within 30 days of presentation (44). In addition to abnormal physical findings (altered mental status, respiratory rate \geq 30/min, systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg, temperature <35°C or \geq 40°C, pulse \geq 125/min), abnormal laboratory findings (arterial pH <7.35, urea \geq 11 mmol/L, sodium <130 mmol/L, glucose \geq 14 mmol/L, hematocrit <30%, PaO₂ <60 mmHg), and radiographic findings (pleural effusion), it also contains information on pre-existing comorbidity (neoplastic disease, liver disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, and renal failure) (44). CURB relies on the four adverse clinical prognostic predictors of Confusion, Urea (>7 mmol/L), **R**espiratory rate (\geq 30/min), and **B**lood pressure, low (systolic <90 mmHg and/or diastolic \leq 60 mmHg) at presentation (45). In a cohort of 267 inpatients with CAP, mortality ranged from 2.7% in the presence of no "core" predictors to

83% when all four "core" predictors were present (12). CURB-65 additionally includes age greater than 65 years as a predictor.

Other factors may also influence the prognosis of pneumonia (Figure 1). Factors substantiated by evidence from the literature are marked with an asterisk in the figure.

Figure 1 (46)

+

+

+

+

=

Pre-pneumonia Pneumococcal vaccinations* Influenza vaccinations* Preadmission use of statins*

Pneumonia

Microbiological agent* Severity*

The patient

Age* Gender* Genetic factors Comorbidity* Lifestyle Care-seeking behavior

Diagnosis

+ Availability Timing of hospitalization* Sensitivity and specificity of diagnostic tests

Treatment

+ Prompt and appropriate antibiotic therapy* Antibiotic resistance* Oxygen treatment* Hemodynamic stabilization Respirator treatment Treatment of co-existing disease

Clinician performance

Competence Motivation High-quality guidelines

Patient compliance

- Medical therapy Rehabilitation
- **Clinical outcome**
- (death, disease, discomfort, disability, dissatisfaction)

Factors that influence pneumonia outcomes. A modification of Sackett's figure from "Clinical Epidemiology". Two new boxes ("Pre-pneumonia" and "The patient") have been added to the original figure, and the text has been adapted to pneumonia. Factors substantiated by evidence from the literature are marked with an asterisk.

Obesity: Definition, prevalence, and risk of pneumonia

Obesity increases overall mortality and is a well-known risk factor for serious chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease, hypertension, osteoarthritis, obstructive sleep apnea, and certain forms of cancer (47). Furthermore, obesity is the most important modifiable risk factor for type 2 diabetes (see below). As reviewed by Falagas et al., obese individuals may also have increased susceptibility to infections compared with individuals of normal weight, with evidence especially for skin infections, postoperative infections, and other nosocomial infections (48).

Definition of obesity

Obesity can be defined as a "disease in which excess body fat has accumulated to such an extent that health may be adversely affected" (49). Body mass index (BMI) is an indirect measure of obesity. It is calculated as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in meters and is often used to classify underweight, overweight, and obesity in adults. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), a BMI \geq 25 kg/m² is defined as overweight, and a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² as obese (49). It does, however, not take age, gender, bone structure, muscle mass, or fat distribution into consideration (50). For example, a lean person with high muscle mass may have a high BMI (an overestimation of body fat), whereas an elderly person with increased body fat and low muscle mass may have a normal or even low BMI (an underestimation of body fat) (50). Also, a woman would be more likely to have a greater percentage of body fat than a man with a comparable BMI.

Prevalence of obesity

Obesity is occurring at epidemic proportions. WHO estimates suggest that globally in 2005, approximately 1.6 billion adults were overweight, and at least 400 million adults were obese. Furthermore, WHO projects that by 2015, approximately 2.3 billion adults will be overweight and more than 700 million will be obese (at least 10% of the projected global population) (51). Obesity affects almost all age and socioeconomic groups and is present in both developed and developing countries (52). In the USA, 64.5% of all adults are overweight, and 30.5% are obese (53). In many European countries, more than 50% of the adult population is overweight, and 20–30% is obese. In addition, the prevalence has doubled or risen threefold in less than two decades (54). An obesity epidemic is also taking place in Denmark, where the

overall prevalence of an overweight BMI increased from 34% to 40% in men and from 17% to 27% in women between 1987 and 2001. During the same period, the overall prevalence of obesity more than doubled, in men from 6% to 12% and in women from 5% to 13% (55).

Obesity and risk of pneumonia

Pathophysiology

Obesity may increase the risk of pneumonia for several reasons, as described below.

Immunity

Obesity has been associated with impairments in host defense mechanisms (56-59). Chandra et al. reported that obese individuals show variable impairment of cell-mediated immune responses in vivo and in vitro, as well as reduction of intracellular bacterial killing by neutrophils (60). Conversely, increased T cell response and higher proliferative responses to mitogens have been observed in obese individuals after weight reduction (57). As reviewed by Lamas and Wolowczuk, impairments of the immune system have also been reported in several studies of obese animal models, including impaired T and B cell–mediated immune responses (57;59). The mechanisms linking obesity to impaired immune function are unclear. Malnutrition in obese individuals (because of consumption of diets high in fat) may adversely affect the immune response (57;61). It is also well-known that adipose tissue produces and releases a variety of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory factors, but a link between the proinflammatory state of obesity and an increased risk of infections has not been determined (48).

Pulmonary complications of obesity

Obesity has multiple adverse effects on the respiratory system. Increasing BMI is usually associated with a reduction in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity, total lung capacity, functional residual capacity, and expiratory reserve volume (62). In addition, obesity can cause alterations in the pattern of ventilation (reduced ventilation at the lung bases) (47;63) and an increased work of breathing because of reduced chest wall compliance and respiratory muscle strength (62). The body fat distribution is also important. Particularly, abdominal obesity may restrict the descent of the diaphragm and limit lung expansion (64). Reduced lung function is a strong predictor for pneumonia-related hospitalization; an FEV₁ less than 60% of predicted levels is associated with a risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization more than three times higher than that for normal lung

function (25). As reviewed by McClean, several studies agree that the effect of weight gain on lung function is greater in men than in women, which may be because of sex-related differences in fat distribution (the mechanical effect of abdominal fat on the diaphragm in men) (63).

In addition, obese patients may have an increased risk of aspiration because of increased intraabdominal pressure, a greater rate of gastroesophageal reflux, and a higher volume of gastric fluid (65). Last, obesity is a risk factor for respiratory diseases such as obstructive sleep apnea, obesity hypoventilation syndrome, and asthma (62). The latter is in turn a wellestablished risk factor for pneumonia (19;21;28;29).

Other complications of obesity

Elevated BMI is also related to other diseases that may increase the risk of pneumonia. These diseases include type 2 diabetes, heart failure, stroke, certain forms of cancer, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (47;66;67). Furthermore, abdominal obesity is a major contributor to the development of hypertension, elevated plasma insulin concentrations and insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, and hyperlipidemia (metabolic syndrome) (68). Hypertension, in turn, is a risk factor for end-stage renal disease (69). The link between obesity and diabetes is described on page 17.

Smoking and alcohol

As noted by Chiolero in his review, numerous cross-sectional studies indicate an association between smoking and low BMI (70). Results from studies on alcohol intake and body weight are inconclusive (71).

Studies on obesity and the risk of pneumonia

I searched PubMed to identify articles on the association between BMI/obesity and the risk of pneumonia, using the following terms:

- "obesity" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 55 articles).
- "body mass index" [Mesh] OR "body weight" [Mesh] OR "waist circumference" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 290 articles).
- "life style" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 17 articles)
- "pneumonia/epidemiology"[Mesh] AND "risk factors"[Mesh] (yielded 816 articles)

Limits were humans, adults, and English-, Danish-, Norwegian-, or Swedish-language articles. We included only studies examining obesity as a risk factor for pneumonia. Studies were excluded if they examined only hospital-acquired pneumonia, ventilator-associated pneumonia, or healthcare-associated pneumonia. The remaining six important studies are shown in Table 2.

Author, year, country	Design	Included individuals	Outcome	Results (95%CI)				
			measure					
LaCroix et al., 1989,	Cohort	2605 men (pneumonia	Adj. RR of	"The risk of pneumonia was higher among persons				
USA (23)		hospitalization rate, 9.71 per	pneumonia-	with low B	MI" (estimates not g	iven).		
		1000 person-years);	related					
		2869 women (pneumonia	hospitalization					
		hospitalization rate, 6.89 per						
		1000 person-years)						
Lange et al., 1995,	Cohort	6158 men (pneumonia-related	Adj. RR of	"The risk of	f pneumonia-related	hospitalization		
Denmark (25)		hospitalization, 216);	pneumonia-	rose significantly with decreasing BMI" (estimates				
		7265 women (pneumonia-	related	not given).		not given).		
		related hospitalization, 189)	hospitalization					
Almirall et al., 1999,	Case-	205 CAP cases,	Adj. OR for	BMI*				
Spain (18)	control	475 population controls	practitioner- or	Normal weight 1.0		1.0		
			hospital-	Underweight 1.76 (0.85–3.6		1.76 (0.85–3.67)		
			diagnosed	Overweight	;	0.91 (0.52–1.59)		
			САР	Highly overweight 1.42 (0.63–3.2		1.42 (0.63–3.24)		
Baik et al., 2000, USA	Cohort		Adj. RR for	BMI	Men	Women		
(7)		26,429 men (CAP, 290);	practitioner- or	<21.0	1.55 (0.87–2.75)	1.00 (0.70–1.43)		
		78,062 women (CAP, 305)	hospital-	21.0-22.9	1.0 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)		
			diagnosed	23.0-24.9	0.91 (0.62–1.36)	0.61 (0.39–0.96)		
			САР	25.0-26.9	0.94 (0.63–1.39)	1.53 (1.03–2.28)		
				27.0–29.9	1.53 (1.04–2.26)	1.87 (1.26–2.77)		
				≥30.0	0.97 (0.57–1.67)	2.22 (1.56-3.18)		

Table 2. Studies on BMI and the risk of pneumonia

Schnoor et al., 2007,	Case-	1130 CAP cases;	Adj. OR for	BMI**	
Germany (28)	control	989 population controls	practitioner- or	Normal weight	1.0
			hospital-	Underweight	2.3 (1.3–3.9)
			diagnosed	Overweight	0.6 (0.5–0.7)
			САР	Obese	0.7 (0.5–0.9)
Almirall et al., 2008,	Case-	1336 CAP cases;	Unadj. OR for	BMI	
Spain (19)	control	1326 population controls	practitioner- or	Normal weight	1
			hospital-	Underweight	2.20 (1.57-3.09)
			diagnosed	Overweight	0.89 (0.72–1.09)
			CAP	Obese	0.79 (0.60–1.04)

adj. = adjusted, BMI = body mass index, CAP = community-acquired pneumonia, OR = odds ratio, RR = relative risk, unadj. = unadjusted.

*Cut-off points are defined by 20.7, 27.8, and 31.1 in males and 19.1, 27.3, and 32.3 in females.

**Cut-off points are defined by 20.1, 25.1, and 30.1 in males and 19.1, 24.1, and 30.1 in females.

As it appears from Table 2, only few studies have examined the association between obesity and the risk of pneumonia. In a US study, Baik et al. followed 26,429 men from the Health Professionals' Follow-up Study and 78,062 women from the Nurses' Health Study who were free of asthma, cardiovascular disease, cancer, and diabetes at baseline, and found that a BMI of \geq 30 was associated with a greater risk of pneumonia among women (adjusted RR [relative risk] = 2.2; 95% CI 1.6–3.2) but not among men (RR = 1.0; 95% CI 0.6–1.7) (7). Chronic diseases developed during follow-up were not taken into account. Almirall's study including 205 CAP cases found a positive but imprecisely measured association between being "highly overweight" and risk of CAP (adjusted OR [odds ratio] 1.42; 95% CI 0.63–3.24) (18). In contrast, two more recent case-control studies found no association between obesity and pneumonia-related hospitalization (19;28). These studies were based on self-reported values of anthropometric data, which can be less accurate than clinical measurements (72;73). Moreover, other risk factors were not accounted for in one of the case-control studies (19). Finally, case-control studies based on questionnaires can be hampered by recall bias (18;19;28).

Comparison of the previous studies is also complicated because of different BMI categories and the fact that some studies only included pneumonia patients diagnosed by general practitioners; others included a combination of both practitioner- and hospital-diagnosed pneumonia patients.

In conclusion, obese individuals may have an increased risk of pneumonia, but available data are sparse and inconsistent. It is also unclear whether such a relation might be due to obesity *per se* or explained by other acquired diseases associated with obesity. In this thesis, the Danish cohort "Cancer, Diet and Health" in combination with medical and administrative registries served as valuable tools for examining the association between obesity and the risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia.

The link between obesity and type 2 diabetes

Obesity, in particular abdominal obesity, is associated with insulin resistance, an important element of type 2 diabetes (Figure 2). Suggested mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance include (1) insulin itself, by inducing receptor downregulation; (2) free fatty acids; (3) intracellular lipid accumulation; and (4) circulating peptides produced by adipocytes, such as the cytokines TNF- α and IL-6, RBP4, as well as the adipokines adiponectin and resistin (74). In a cohort of 114,281 US women participating in the Nurses' Health Study, BMI was found to be the most important predictor of risk for diabetes; a risk was already increased with BMIs greater than 22.0 kg/m (75). Women with a BMI of 35 kg/m² or greater had a 93-fold higher risk of developing diabetes compared with women with a BMI of less than 22 kg/m². A similar positive association between increasing BMI and diabetes also exists among men. In a cohort of 51,529 US male health professionals, Chan et al. found that men with a BMI of \geq 35 kg/m² had a 42-fold higher risk of diabetes compared with men with a BMI <23 kg/m² (76). As many as 80% of patients with type 2 diabetes are obese (74).



Figure 2. The link between obesity and type 2 diabetes.

Diabetes mellitus: definition, prevalence, and association with pneumonia

Diabetes is the fifth leading cause of death by disease in the USA (1). Moreover, adults with diabetes have rates of stroke and death from heart disease that are about 2–4 times higher than adults without diabetes. Diabetes is a leading risk factor for end-stage renal disease, adult blindness, and non-traumatic limb amputations (77). There is also growing evidence that individuals with diabetes are at an increased risk of common infections such as urinary tract infection, skin and mucous membrane infection, and perhaps pneumonia (78-81). Of particular interest here is the suggested association between diabetes and pneumonia.

Definition of diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus refers to a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both (82). Diabetes mellitus can be classified into type 1 and type 2 diabetes, other specific types, and gestational diabetes.

Type 1 diabetes accounts for about 5–10% of those with diabetes. It arises from pancreatic β cell destruction, which usually leads to absolute insulin deficiency (82). Individuals with type 1 diabetes require insulin for survival and are prone to develop ketoacidosis. Although type 1 diabetes usually develops before the age of 30, it can develop at any age (83).

Type 2 diabetes accounts for about 90–95% of those with diabetes. It is a heterogeneous group of disorders characterized by variable degrees of insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion, and increased hepatic glucose production (83). This form of diabetes was previously referred to as non–insulin-dependent diabetes or adult-onset diabetes; however, many patients with type 2 diabetes require insulin for control of glycemia. Because hyperglycemia develops gradually, type 2 diabetes often goes undiagnosed for many years. Ketoacidosis seldom occurs in this type of diabetes. Older age, obesity, physical inactivity, and a family history of diabetes increase the risk of type 2 diabetes (83).

Other specific types of diabetes include diabetes attributable to other causes (for example genetic defects in β -cell function, genetic defects in insulin action, diseases of the exocrine pancreas, and drug- or chemical-induced diabetes) (82). Gestational diabetes mellitus is

defined as "any degree of glucose intolerance with onset or first recognition during pregnancy" (82).

Prevalence of diabetes

The total number of people with diabetes worldwide has been predicted to more than double between 2000 and 2030, from 171 million to 366 million (5). In the USA, approximately 9% of the population has diabetes (84), and the incidence of type 2 diabetes has doubled over the last 30 years (85). Based on recent data from The Danish National Diabetes Register (described on page 32), Carstensen et al. found that the prevalence of diabetes in Denmark is approximately 4% (86) and that the prevalence increases 6% annually.

Association of diabetes with pneumonia

Pathophysiology

Individuals with diabetes and/or hyperglycemia may have an increased risk and a worse prognosis of pneumonia for several reasons, described below.

Immunity

Aberrations in host defense mechanisms are assumed to predispose diabetic patients to an increased risk and worse prognosis of infections. Observations from in vitro studies suggest that diabetic patients have altered neutrophil function, such as impaired chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and bacterial killing (87-90). The decreased function may in part be an effect of hyperglycemia (91). Some studies have, for example, found that the degree of neutrophil dysfunction correlates with the degree of hyperglycemia (87;88;90). Furthermore, correction of impaired neutrophil function has been reported in diabetic persons after improved metabolic control by insulin treatment (87). As reviewed by Smith et al., cell-mediated abnormalities such as decreased CD4/CD8 lymphocyte ratios, changes in natural killer cell function, acquired defects in interleukin-2 production, and a reduced phagocytic function of monocytes, have also been reported in diabetic patients and could account for an increased risk of both bacterial and viral infections (92).

Metabolic derangement

The harmful effects of hyperglycemia on the immune system may increase the risk of infections in diabetic individuals. Conversely, infection may worsen glycemic control in patients with diabetes. In fact, infection is the most common precipitating factor in the

development of diabetic ketoacidosis and a hyperosmolar hyperglycemic state (93). A randomized, controlled study of surgical critically ill patients (that is, adults admitted to a surgical intensive care unit who were receiving mechanical ventilation) has shown that strict glycemic control with insulin therapy substantially reduced morbidity and mortality, including the risk of sepsis (94). The beneficial effects of intensive insulin therapy were later found to be associated with metabolic control rather than with the insulin dose (95). However, concerns have been raised regarding the potential harm of hypoglycemia in critically ill patients treated with intensive insulin therapy (96-98).

Complications of diabetes

The complications of diabetes affect multiple organ systems, and some may increase the risk and worsen the prognosis of pneumonia. Diabetic patients have an increased risk of aspiration of pathogens causing pneumonia due to gastroparesis, which is present in 30–50% of patients with longstanding diabetes (91;99). Aspiration may also occur in diabetic patients with hypoglycemic seizure, hyperosmolar nonketotic coma, or ketoacidosis because of depressed mental status (91). The risk of stroke is increased by a factor of 2 in diabetic men and is even higher in diabetic women (100), and stroke sequelae can also predispose an individual to aspiration.

Diabetes is a risk factor for end-stage renal disease. Immune cell dysfunction has been described in patients with chronic renal failure and hemodialysis, including impaired granulocyte activity, suppressed T-lymphocyte function, and impaired macrophage Fc receptor function (91).

Furthermore, patients with type 2 diabetes are more than twice as likely as patients without diabetes to develop congestive heart failure (101). Heart failure has been associated with a 1.9 times greater risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization (21) as well as a 1.4 times greater mortality following hospitalization with pneumonia (102). The universal micro- and macroangiopathy associated with diabetes may also worsen the risk and outcome of infections due to decreased tissue oxygenation and impaired leukocyte migration (32).

Impaired lung function has been suggested as a potential complication of diabetes (91;103), including reduction in lung diffusing capacity and spirometric parameters, such as total lung capacity, vital capacity, and FEV_1 to forced vital capacity. Interestingly, microangiopathic

changes have been reported in the basement membranes of pulmonary blood vessels and respiratory epithelium as well as glycosylation of tissue proteins (91). Finally, as mentioned on page 17, diabetes and obesity often coexist, and obesity may increase the risk of pneumonia (7).

Smoking and alcohol

The risk of type 2 diabetes is greater in smokers than in non-smokers (104;105). In the Physicians Health Study, a 70% higher risk of type 2 diabetes was reported for men who smoked >20 cigarettes per day compared with non-smokers (104). Similar results have been reported in women (105). Concerning the association between type 2 diabetes and alcohol, conflicting results exist (106).

Studies on diabetes, hyperglycemia, and pneumonia

I searched PubMed to identify articles on the association between diabetes and pneumonia as well as hyperglycemia and pneumonia, using the following terms:

- "diabetes mellitus" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 253 articles)
- "hyperglycemia" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 28 articles)
- "glucose" [Mesh] AND "pneumonia" [Mesh] (yielded 68 articles)
- "pneumonia/epidemiology"[Mesh] AND "risk factors"[Mesh] (yielded 816 articles)

• "pneumonia/epidemiology"[Mesh] AND "prognosis"[Mesh] (yielded 645 articles) Limits were humans, adults, and English-, Danish-, Norwegian-, or Swedish-language articles. We included only studies examining diabetes as a risk or prognostic factor for pneumonia. Studies were excluded if they examined only hospital-acquired pneumonia, ventilator-associated pneumonia, or healthcare-associated pneumonia and if they were published more than 20 years ago. Relevant studies on diabetes and hyperglycemia as risk factors for pneumonia are shown in Table 3. Relevant studies on diabetes and hyperglycemia as prognostic factors are shown in Table 4.

Author, year,	Design	Included individuals	Outcome measure	Results (95% CI)
country				
LaCroix et al.,	Cohort	Men, 2605 (DM, 8%);	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	Men, 1.0 (0.6–1.8)
1989, USA (23)		women, 2869 (DM, 10%)	pneumonia-related	Women, 1.7 (1.1–2.7)
			hospitalization	
Koivula et al.,	Cohort	4175 persons (DM, 13.%)	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	"Diabetes was not
1994, Finland (22)			outpatient visits or	significantly associated
			hospitalizations for	with pneumonia"
			pneumonia	(estimates not given)
Lange et al., 1995,	Cohort	13,423 persons	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	No significant
Denmark (25)		(distribution of DM not	pneumonia-related	statistical association
		given)	hospitalization	between DM and
				pneumonia-related hos-
				pitalization (estimates
				not given)
Almirall et al.,	Case-	205 CAP cases (DM,	Adj. OR (DM vs. other) for	1.61 (0.69–3.72)
1999, Spain (18)	control	9%),	practitioner or	
		475 population controls	hospital-diagnosed CAP	
		(DM, 6%)		
Shah et al., 2003,	Cohort	1,027,498 persons (DM,	Unadj. RR (DM vs. other)	1.46 (1.42–1.49)*
Canada (81)		50%)	for hospitalization or	
			physician claim for	
			pneumonia	
Jackson et al.,	Cohort	46,237 persons (DM, 9%)	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	
2004, USA (21)			1) hospitalization for CAP	1) 1.52 (1.29–1.78)
			2) outpatients visit for CAP	2) 0.90 (0.77–1.06)
			3) all CAP	3) 1.13 (1.01–1.27)
Muller et al.,	Cohort	26,328 (DM1 = 705, DM2	Adj. OR (DM vs patients	1) For patients with
2005, The		= 6712; hypertension =	with hypertension). For	DM1
Netherlands (80)		18,911)	practitioner-diagnosed	1.42 (0.96–2.08)
			lower respiratory tract	2) For patients with
			infection	DM2
				1.32 (1.13–1.53)
Benfield et al.,	Cohort	10,063 persons (DM =	1) Adj. RR (DM vs. other)	1) 1.75 (1.23–2.48)
2007, Denmark		353)	of pneumonia-related	2) 1.06 (1.03–1.10)
(78)			hospitalization	
			2) Adj. RR of pneumonia-	
			related hospitalization per	
			mmol/L increase in plasma	

Table 3. Studies on diabetes, hyperglycemia, and the risk of pneumonia

			glucose	
Skull et al., 2008,	Case-	1952 CAP cases (DM,	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	1.22 (1.05–1.42)
Australia (107)	cohort	27%); 2927 cohort	hospitalized CAP	
		persons (DM, 25%)		
Vila-Corcoles et	Cohort	11,241 persons (DM,	Adj. RR (DM vs. other) of	1.04 (0.85–1.29)
al., 2008, Spain		24%)	outpatient visits or	
(108)			hospitalizations for CAP	
Almirall et al.,	Case-	1336 CAP cases (DM,	Unadj. OR (DM vs. other)	1.43 (1.11–1.92)
2008, Spain (19)	control	10%); 1326 population	for practitioner- or	
		controls (DM 7%)	hospital-diagnosed CAP	

*99% confidence interval

adj. = adjusted, CAP = community-acquired pneumonia, DM = diabetes mellitus, OR = odds ratio, RR = relative risk, unadj. = unadjusted.

Author, year,	Design	Included individuals	Measure of interest	Results (95% CI)
country				
LaCroix et al.,	Cohort	Men, 2605 (DM, 8%);	Adj. RR (DM vs. other)	Men, 1.5 (0.8–2.6)
1989, USA (23)		women, 2869 (DM,	of pneumonia-related	Women, 1.5 (0.6–3.6)
		10%)	mortality on death	
			certificate	
Marrie et al.,	Cohort	1118 patients with CAP	Proportion of patients	+ Bacteremia
1992, Canada		(DM, 8%)	with DM among CAP	DM = 21.3%
(109)			patients with and w/o	÷ Bacteremia
			pneumococcal	DM = 7%, P = 0.008
			bacteremia	
Lange et al., 1995,	Cohort	6158 men (pneumonia-	Adj. RR (DM vs. other)	No significant statistical
Denmark (25)		related hospitalization,	of pneumonia-related	association between DM and
		216); 7265 women	mortality on death	pneumonia-related death
		(pneumonia-related	certificate	(estimates not given)
		hospitalization, 189);		
		distribution of DM not		
		given.		
Fine et al., 1996,	Meta-	Total of 33,148	Unadj. summary OR	1.3 (1.1–1.5)
USA (35)	analysis of	patients; 14,655 with	(DM vs other) for	
	CAP	data on DM	mortality (method:	
	prognosis		Mantel and Haenszel)	
Houston et al.,	Cohort	413 inpatients and	Unadj. OR (DM vs.	1.66 (0.54–5.07)
1997, USA (110)		outpatients with lower	other) for 30-day	

Table 4. Studies on diabetes, hyperglycemia, and outcome of pneumonia

		raminatory tra	at	mortality		
		respiratory tract		montanty		
		infection (DM, 6%)				
Fine et al., 1997,	Cohort	14,199 patients	S	Adj. 30-day hospital	$Glucose \ge 14 \text{ mmol/L was a}$	
USA (44)		hospitalized w	ith	mortality	"significant pr	redictor of
		pneumonia (gl	ucose \geq		mortality" (P<	< 0.05)
		14 mmol/L, 9.0	6%)			
Akbar, 2001,	Cohort	85 CAP patien	ts with a	In-hospital mortality	DM present: 31%	
Saudi Arabia		positive sputur	n culture	(DM vs. other)	DM not prese	nt: 20%
(111)		(DM, 31%)		following bacterial	(P = 0.2)	
				pneumonia		
Kaplan et al.,	Cohort	623,718 CAP	patients	Adj. OR (DM vs. other)	0.96 (0.93-0.9	99)
2002, USA (40)		(DM, 17%)	17%) for in-hospital			
McAlister et al.,	Cohort	2471 CAP patients		1) Unadj. OR (DM vs.	1) 1.00 (0.69-1.45)	
2005, Canada (37)		(DM, 16%)		other) for in-hospital		
		Admission glucose		mortality	2) Admission	glucose (mmol/L)
		≤6.1 33%		2) Adj. OR for in-	≤6.1	1.0 (ref.)
		6.11-11.0	55%	hospital mortality	6.11-11.0	1.20 (0.88–1.65)
		11.01– 5%			11.01–13.99	1.79 (1.01–3.16)
		13.99	6%		≥14.0	1.69 (0.97–2.94)
		≥14.0				
Falguera et al.,	Cohort	660 hospital-di	iagnosed	Adj. OR (DM vs. other)		
2005, Spain (112)		CAP patients (DM,		1) 30-day mortality	1) 2.14 (1.09-4.19)	
		16%)		2) pleural effusion	2) 2.01(1.23-3.28)	
Benfield et al.,	Cohort	10,063 persons (DM =		Hospital-associated 28-	+DM 19%	
2007, Denmark		353); 586 pneumonia		day mortality	÷DM 14%	
(78)		episodes				
	1				1	

*99% confidence interval

adj. = adjusted, DM = diabetes mellitus, MRR = mortality rate ratio, OR = odds ratio, RR = relative risk, unadj. = unadjusted.

Studies on diabetes, hyperglycemia, and the risk of pneumonia

Diabetes is thought to be a risk factor for pneumonia, but available data are inconclusive (Table 3). Four cohort studies, one case-cohort study, and two case-control studies have reported that diabetes is associated with a 1.13- to 1.75-fold increased risk of pneumonia (18;19;21;78;80;81;107); three cohort studies, however, failed to find an association (22;25;108). Two of these cohort studies examined a wide range of risk factors, and confounder-adjusted risk estimates for diabetes were not statistically significantly increased (estimates not given) (22;25). In the largest study to date on this topic, Shah et al. compared

all people with diabetes in Ontario, Canada, to age, sex, region, and income quintile-matched non-diabetic people (n = 513,749 in each group) and found that diabetes was associated with a 1.46 times (99% CI 1.42–1.49) increased risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization or physician claim for pneumonia (81). The study did not, however, clarify whether the result was influenced by a higher level of comorbidity among individuals with diabetes compared with individuals without diabetes. Jackson et al. reported that the adjusted RR for hospitalizations for CAP was 1.52 (95% CI 1.29–1.78) among persons with diabetes compared to persons without diabetes, based on 46,237 persons aged \geq 65 years and enrolled in a single health maintenance organization in Washington state, USA (21). These findings may not apply to persons younger than 65 years of age or to the general population.

In fact, only a few of the previous studies were population based (18;22;81), and only one study distinguished between type 1 and 2 diabetes (80). Based on records from 195 general practices in Holland, Muller et al. compared patients with diabetes to an age-matched control group of hypertensive patients and showed that diabetic patients had a greater risk of lower respiratory tract infections [adjusted OR for patients with type 1 diabetes = 1.42 (95% CI 0.96-2.08) and for patients with type 2 diabetes = 1.32 (95% CI 1.13-1.53) (80)]. However, the category "lower respiratory tract infection" included milder general practitioner-diagnosed cases of acute bronchitis, influenza, pleuritis, emphysema, or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and exacerbations of asthma, in addition to pneumonia. In the previous case-control studies, diabetes data were based on interviews or questionnaires and may therefore have been hampered by recall bias (18;19).

Very little is known about the influence of hyperglycemia on the risk of pneumonia (Table 3). Benfield et al. followed 10,063 individuals from the Danish general population and found that each 1 mmol/L increase in baseline plasma glucose was associated with a 6% (95% CI 1.03–1.10) increased RR of pneumonia (78). This result was based on a single non-fasting glucose measurement.

Studies on diabetes, hyperglycemia, and pneumonia outcomes

Whether diabetes worsens pneumonia prognosis remains controversial (Table 4). Fine's metaanalysis of pneumonia prognosis based on pre-1996 research found that diabetes was associated with a 1.3 times (95% CI 1.1–1.5) increased mortality following pneumonia (35). The meta-analysis did not consider possible confounders. A recent Spanish study of 660 patients with CAP found that diabetes was associated with markedly increased 30-day mortality [adjusted RR 2.14 (95% CI 1.09–4.19)] (112); that study relied on a cohort admitted to a single university hospital. In contrast, two larger cohort studies found similar in-hospital mortality among patients with and without diabetes (37;40). Based on 623,718 US patients aged over 65 and hospitalized for CAP, Kaplan et al. reported that the adjusted RR for in-hospital mortality associated with diabetes was 0.96 (95% CI 0.93–0.99) (40). In his study, patients with diabetes were identified only by earlier hospital diagnoses; thus, diabetic patients who were never previously hospitalized were missed. In a Canadian study of 2471 patients with CAP, including 401 patients with diabetes, McAlister et al. found that in crude analyses, a priori diabetes history did not predict in-hospital mortality (OR 1.00; 95% CI 0.69–1.45) (37). They did find that hyperglycemia on admission was associated with a poor prognosis for both diabetic and non-diabetic patients with CAP.

In studies of prognosis, observations of patients in a cohort should ideally begin at the same well-defined point in the course of a disease (113). Because of increased surveillance of diabetic patients, a different care-seeking behavior of diabetic patients, or both, physicians could be more likely to hospitalize diabetic patients in an earlier stage of the pneumonia infection, which could lead to lower-than-expected mortality from pneumonia. Information on pneumonia severity at presentation is therefore important for understanding the clinical course of pneumonia in diabetic vs. non-diabetic patients, but most studies lack these data (23;25;35;37;40;110;111). In addition, claims that pneumonia patients with diabetes are at an increased risk of developing bacteremia (109) have been hampered by missing data on the frequency of confirmation through blood cultures.

Evidence regarding increased pulmonary complications in diabetic patients with pneumonia remains limited (91;112), as are data on the prognostic value of acute hyperglycemia for diabetic patients with pneumonia (37) (Table 4). Nevertheless, admission glucose levels \geq 14 mmol/L, but not a history of diabetes, constitutes one of the twenty factors included in the PSI (44). Finally, in prognostic studies, patients should be followed for a long enough period of time to allow most of the important outcome events to occur (113). Most deaths directly related to pneumonia are likely to occur within 30 days of presentation (114), while death within 90 days can be the result of pneumonia sequelae following the initial illness (38). Few studies have, however, followed the patients for 30 days or more, probably because of the difficulties in many countries with follow-up of patients in the post-discharge period (32).

In conclusion, because the prevalence of diabetes and the rate of pneumonia hospitalizations both are on the rise, it is important to clarify whether diabetes with associated hyperglycemia is a risk and prognostic factor for hospitalized pneumonia. More accurate data are needed to correctly define risk groups for pneumonia hospitalization and death; to qualify the debate on appropriateness of influenza and pneumococcal immunization in diabetic patients; to improve our understanding of the clinical course of pneumonia; and to predict pneumonia outcome more accurately among patients with diabetes/hyperglycemia. In this thesis, Danish health registries linked by a unique civil registration number functioned as a valuable tool for examining the impact of diabetes and hyperglycemia on pneumonia-related hospitalization, allowing a large sample size, a population-based design, and complete long-term follow-up of the patients.

Aims of the thesis

- 1. To examine whether type 2 diabetes increases risk of death, pulmonary complications, and bacteremia following pneumonia, and to assess the prognostic value of acute hyperglycemia at admission (*study I*).
- 2. To examine whether diabetes is a risk factor for hospitalization with pneumonia and to assess the impact of Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) level on such risk (*study II*).
- 3. To examine the association between obesity and the risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among men and women and to examine whether such association is explained by presence of other major chronic diseases in obese individuals *(study III)*.

Subjects and Methods

Data sources

Studies I and II

Studies I and II were based on population-based Danish medical and administrative registries. They were conducted in the Danish former counties of North Jutland and Aarhus, with a mixed rural and urban population of approximately 1.15 million people. In Denmark, the National Health Service provides tax-supported health care for all residents, including free access to primary care and hospitals and reimbursement of a portion of the cost of most prescription drugs (115). Use of civil registration numbers, assigned to every Danish resident since 1968, allows accurate linkage among Danish registries.



Figure 3. Data sources applied in *studies I–II*

The following data sources were used:

County Hospital Registries

The County Hospital Registries in Aarhus and North Jutland counties contain information on all discharges from non-psychiatric hospitals since 1977. Information on outpatient and emergency room visits was added from 1995 onwards. The County Hospital Registries compiles data for the National Registry of Patients. Data include civil registration number, dates of admission and discharge, the surgical procedures performed, and up to 20 discharge diagnoses classified by physicians according to the International Classification of Diseases, 8th revision (ICD-8) until the end of 1993 and according to the 10th revision (ICD-10) thereafter (116).

County Prescription Registries

Community pharmacies collect data on all prescriptions filled by ambulatory patients and forward data on reimbursable medicines to their local regional health service section (in North Jutland County since 1989 and in Aarhus County since 1996). Data include the patient's civil registration number and amount and type of drug prescribed according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system (116).

The Laboratory Information Systems (LABKA)

The counties' laboratory databases contain information on all specimens submitted for analysis by hospitals and practitioners. Data from Aarhus County are considered complete from 1995, while data from North Jutland County are complete from 1997. At the time Study I was done (2006), laboratory data from Aarhus County were not yet available for research. Data include the patient's civil registration number, the test name, the test's IUPAC-code (International Union for Pure and Applied Chemistry) and/or a local analysis number, the result, and dates of ordering and carrying out the analysis (116).

The North Jutland County Bacteremia Registry

This bacteremia registry is maintained by the Department of Clinical Microbiology at Aalborg hospital. It stores prospectively collected data on all episodes of bacteremia in North Jutland County since 1992, including data on bacterial isolates and susceptibility patterns, the patient's civil registry number, age, sex, date of admission, clinical specialty, origin of infection, presumed focus of infection, and empirical antibiotic treatment. Since 1995, data on all blood cultures (positive or negative) taken in North Jutland County also have been stored electronically (117;118).

The National Health Insurance Service Registry (study II)

This registry contains information on all health services that are provided by general practitioners, dentists, physiotherapists, chiropodists, psychologists, and other specialists, and that are covered by the National Health Insurance. The individual provider is responsible for registering any given health care service (e.g., blood glucose measurements, ECG, mother/child care, and vaccinations). The registry holds no data regarding health status or diagnoses. The recorded data are from 1990 and onwards (116).

The Civil Registration System

This registry is updated daily and contains information on civil registration number, name, address, marital status, citizenship, kinship (parents/children), and date of death if any for the entire Danish population since 1968 (116;119).

Study III

Study III was based on the Danish cohort "Diet, Cancer and Health," and medical and administrative registries.



Figure 4. Data sources applied in study III

"Diet, Cancer and Health"

The overall aim of the "Diet, Cancer and Health" cohort is to examine the association between specific dietary components, foods, and nutrients, and risk of cancer, obesity, and chronic diseases (120). Between December 1993 and May 1997, a total of 160,725 persons (80,996 men and 79,729 women) were invited to participate in "Diet, Cancer and Health." Eligible participants were retrieved from the Civil Registration System. They were 50–64 years of age, born in Denmark, inhabitants of Copenhagen or Aarhus, and without a former cancer diagnosis registered in The Danish Cancer Registry. A total of 27,178 men and 29,875 women were enrolled in the study, representing 7% of the entire Danish population from ages 50 to 64 years. All participants completed a detailed food-frequency questionnaire (121;122) and a second baseline questionnaire on lifestyle and background (120). Anthropometrical measurements, including height and weight, were collected by a laboratory technician at enrolment.

The Danish National Registry of Patients

This registry receives data from the Hospital Registry of each county (please see page 30) (116).

The National Diabetes Registry

This registry contains information on individuals with diabetes in Denmark and covers the period 1996–2006. The registry links data from The Danish National Registry of Patients, The National Health Insurance Service Registry, and the nationwide Prescription Registry. Individuals are classified as having diabetes if one of the following criteria is met (86):

- Diagnosis of diabetes in the National Patient Registry, ICD-10: E10-14 (diabetes), H36.0 (diabetic retinopathy), O24 (diabetes in pregnancy except for O24.4, which is diabetes arising in pregnancy), or ICD-8: 249, 250 (diabetes)
- Chiropody for diabetic patients recorded in the National Health Insurance Service Registry
- Five blood glucose measurements within one year or two measurements per year in five consecutive years recorded in the National Health Insurance Service Registry

- Second purchase of oral glucose-lowering drugs recorded in the nationwide Prescription Registry within 6 months (except for women aged 20–39 years prescribed metformin alone)
- Second purchase of prescribed insulin recorded in the nationwide Prescription Registry

Study designs

Type 2 diabetes and pneumonia outcomes (study I)

We examined type 2 diabetes as a prognostic factor in an explanatory cohort study of adults with a first-time hospitalization with pneumonia in North Jutland and Aarhus counties between 1997 and 2004. Outcomes were 30-day and 90-day mortality, pulmonary complications, and bacteremia. The impact of admission hyperglycemia on 30-day and 90day mortality following pneumonia was examined in a subcohort of pneumonia patients from North Jutland County. We adjusted for the following potential confounding factors: sex, age, level of comorbidity, history of alcoholism-related disorders, obesity, and pre-admission use of antibiotics and immunosuppressive drugs.



Figure 5. Pneumonia prognosis, cohort design (study I)

Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia (study II)

We examined diabetes (overall and categorized by type, duration, and HbA1c level) as a risk factor for hospitalization with pneumonia in a nested case-control study. The source

population consisted of all residents in the counties of North Jutland and Aarhus. Cases consisted of adults with a first-time hospitalization with pneumonia between 1997 and 2005. On the date of each patient's first pneumonia admission, we randomly selected 10 control persons from the Central Population Registry, matched by age, sex, and residence. The control persons were selected with the incidence density sampling technique (123); that is, the control persons had to be alive and at risk of a first hospitalization with pneumonia on the date the corresponding case was admitted. When using incidence density sampling, the estimated OR in a case-control design is an unbiased estimate of the RR. We adjusted for level of comorbidity, history of alcoholism-related disorders, pre-admission use of antibiotics or immunosuppressants, marital status, household presence of small children attending day-care centers, and degree of urbanization.



Figure 6. Pneumonia risk, case-control design (study II)

Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danes aged 50 to 64

Study III was a cohort study. We examined whether obesity is associated with an increased risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization using the cohort "Diet, Cancer and Health." Participants with a prior pneumonia-related hospitalization and those with incomplete information on height and weight or potential confounders were excluded at baseline. We also excluded those who had other major chronic diseases diagnosed before enrolment (see page

39 for definition of other major chronic diseases). We adjusted for baseline smoking status, alcohol intake, schooling, and educational level. In a supplementary analysis we also adjusted for other major chronic diseases diagnosed during follow-up.



Figure 7. Pneumonia risk, cohort design (study III)
Definition of exposure, outcomes, and confounding factors

Diabetes

The way we identified individuals with diabetes differs among studies I–III, mainly because the availability of registry data improved over time.

In *study I*, we identified diabetic individuals from the hospital and prescription registries as follows:

- Hospital diagnosis of type 1 and 2 diabetes (ICD-8 codes 249-250 and ICD-10 codes E10-E11) and/or
- At least one prescription ever for insulin (ATC code A10A) or an oral anti-diabetes drug (ATC code A10B) (124)

In *study II*, we obtained access to the National Health Insurance Service Registry, and the definition of diabetes was extended as follows:

- Hospital diagnosis of diabetes ICD-8 249-250 (diabetes), ICD-10 codes E10-14 (diabetes), O24 (diabetes in pregnancy except for O24.4, which is diabetes arising in pregnancy), and H36.0 (diabetic retinopathy)
- At least one prescription for insulin (ATC code A10A) or an oral anti-diabetes drug (ATC code A10B)
- At least one visit to a chiropodist for diabetic foot care
- At least five glucose-related services (blood glucose measurements performed in general practice) in one year and/or two glucose-related services each year during five subsequent years (125)

In *study III*, we obtained information on diabetes from the National Diabetes Register (covers the period 1996–2006) (see description on page 32), the Danish National Registry of Patients (1977–2008), and from self-reported diabetes by questionnaire in the "Diet, Cancer and Health" cohort.

In *studies I and II*, we classified patients with diabetes as type I (those with diabetes first recorded before age 30 years, using insulin monotherapy, and with no history of oral antidiabetes medications) or type 2 (the remaining diabetic patients). In *study II*, the duration of diabetes was defined as the time elapsed between the first record of diabetes and the date of each patient's first pneumonia-related hospital admission.

Data on glucose and HbA1c levels

Information on glucose levels among pneumonia patients from North Jutland County (*study I*) and HbA1c levels among diabetic cases and controls from both counties (*study II*) were obtained from the counties' laboratory databases. We used the first glucose measurement taken on the day of admission or (if unavailable) on the following day. We used the most recent HbA1c measurement for diabetic persons obtained within 12 months preceding the index hospital admission date.

Anthropometric data

All anthropometric data in *study III* were collected at the two study clinics in Aarhus and Copenhagen. Height was measured with the participants standing without shoes and was recorded to the nearest half centimeter. Weight was measured using a digital scale with the participants wearing light clothing or underwear and was recorded to the nearest 100 g. BMI was calculated as a person's weight (measured in kg) divided by the square of their height (measured in meters).

Patients hospitalized with pneumonia

Data on pneumonia were obtained from the counties' hospital registries in *studies I and II*, and from the Danish National Registry of Patients in *study III*. We identified all adult (aged \geq 15 years) patients with the following discharge diagnoses: pneumonia (codes J12.x–J18.x), legionellosis (A481.x), and ornithosis (A709.x). Because we were interested in first-time hospitalizations with pneumonia, in *studies I and II*, we removed hospitalizations for any recurrent episode of pneumonia during the study periods beginning in 1997 and all patients who had been hospitalized with pneumonia during 1992–1996 (ICD-8 codes used before 1994: 480.XX–486.XX, 0.73.XX, and 471.XX). In *study III*, all participants with a discharge diagnosis of pneumonia preceding enrolment in the cohort "Diet, Cancer and Health" were excluded.

In *study I*, we used the laboratory database to assess pneumonia severity among the North Jutland County patients. We obtained the first laboratory results available on the admission day or the following day.

Mortality

The main outcome in the prognostic study (*study I*) was death from any cause within 30 and 90 days following the admission date. We used all-cause mortality and not cause-specific mortality because among patients with underlying diseases, it can be difficult to distinguish between death because of pneumonia and death from the underlying disease. We ascertained the exact date of death from the Danish Civil Registration System.

Pulmonary complications and bacteremia

Secondary outcomes in *study I* were pulmonary complications and bacteremia. We ascertained pulmonary complications by tracing all diagnoses in the hospital registries documented for the index hospitalization or, if a patient was discharged before day 30, documented for re-hospitalizations up to 30 days post-admission. Pulmonary complications were defined as effusion (codes J90.9 and J91.9), empyema (J86.x), lung abscess (J85.x), or adult respiratory distress syndrome (J80.9) (45). For a subcohort of patients from North Jutland County, we identified all pneumonia patients with at least one blood culture and at least one episode of bacteremia occurring during the hospitalization for pneumonia or within 30 days following the admission date. This identification was achieved through linkage to the North Jutland County Bacteremia Registry.

Potential confounders

In *studies I and II*, data on potential confounding factors were collected from the counties' hospital registries (using both hospital discharge and outpatient visit diagnoses), the counties' prescription registries, and from the Danish Civil Registration System. To adjust for confounding by comorbidity, we computed for each individual the Charlson Comorbidity Index score (126) (described on page 53) based on all available hospital diagnoses except diabetes. Three comorbidity levels were defined: low (score of 0), medium (1–2), and high (\geq 3). We also obtained data on covariates potentially associated with pneumonia risk or prognosis that are not included in the Charlson index: a history of alcoholism-related conditions (ICD-8 codes 291, 303, 979, 980, 577.10; ICD-10 codes F10, K86.0, Z72.1, R78.0, T51, K29.2, G62.1, G72.1, G31.2; I42.6 was added in *study II*); use of systemic glucocorticoids and other immunosuppressants within the year before the pneumonia-related admission (ATC-codes L01, L04, H02 AB); and use of systemic antibiotics within 90 days before the admission (ATC-code J01). In *study I*, we also ascertained any history of obesity

(ICD-8 code 277.99; ICD-10 codes E65.x and E66.x). The Central Population Registry provided in *study II* data on marital status, persons living with small children attending day-care centers (younger than 6 years of age, yes/no), and degree of urbanization.

In *study III*, information on lifestyle factors was obtained from the questionnaires. In the food frequency questionnaire, alcohol intake (beer, wine, fortified wine, and spirits) was reported as the average amount consumed over the preceding year. To calculate total alcohol intake, all types of alcohol consumption were converted to "number of drinks," each containing 12 g of ethanol (127). From the lifestyle questionnaire, we obtained information on smoking status, schooling, and educational level.

Data on other major chronic diseases diagnosed during follow-up were collected from the Danish National Registry of Patients using hospital discharge or hospital outpatient visit diagnoses. For diabetes, we additionally obtained data from self-reports and from the Danish National Diabetes Register. To adjust for other major chronic diseases, we computed the cumulative Charlson comorbidity index score achieved during follow-up for each participants, while also including diagnoses of hypertension (ICD-8 codes 400-404; ICD-10 codes I10-I15), HIV (ICD-10 codes B20.X), and gastroesophageal reflux (ICD-8 codes 530.99; ICD-10 codes K21.X) with one point each. Three comorbidity levels were defined: low (score of 0), medium (1-2), and high (\geq 3).

Statistical analyses

Study I

In the analyses of the association between type 2 diabetes and mortality, follow-up extended for 90 days post-admission, or until death or migration, whichever came first. We constructed survival curves and computed cumulative mortality (after 30 and 90 days of follow-up) by 1 minus the Kaplan-Meier estimator. Survival curves were also constructed by comorbidity level. To compare mortality according to type 2 diabetes status, we used Cox's regression to estimate 30- and 90-day mortality rate ratios (MRRs), while controlling for sex, age (in categories of 15–39, 40–64, 65–79, and \geq 80 years), level of comorbidity (low, medium, and high), history of alcoholism-related disorders, and pre-admission use of antibiotics and immunosuppressive drugs. Analyses were conducted with and without the obesity variable. We also adjusted for individual diseases instead of comorbidity level, first by computing the relative mortality rates in our pneumonia cohort associated with different disease categories in the Charlson index, and then substituting log-transformed weights, based on these individual rates, for the Charlson index score levels in the mortality analysis.

Because we could not clearly discriminate between CAP and hospital-acquired pneumonia, we computed 30-day MRRs for type 2 diabetes separately for patients with pneumonia listed as the primary discharge diagnosis and for those with pneumonia listed as a secondary discharge diagnosis. In accordance with Fry et al. (2), we assumed that primary discharge codes for pneumonia represented hospital admissions because of pneumonia and that secondary discharge codes represented a mixture of hospital admissions precipitated by pneumonia and hospital-acquired pneumonia. To examine how much of the apparent effect of diabetes was caused by hyperglycemia, we included admission glucose level in the model for the North Jutland subcohort, both as a categorical and a continuous variable.

Because of the lack of accurate data on person-time to pulmonary complications/bacteremia, we used logistic regression to estimate adjusted RR for pulmonary complications/bacteremia following pneumonia in patients with type 2 diabetes versus patients without diabetes.

Finally, in the last analysis among all pneumonia patients in the North Jutland subcohort, we computed 30- and 90-day MRRs for different glucose level categories ($\leq 6.1, 6.11-11.0, 11.01-13.99, \geq 14 \text{ mmol/L}$) using Cox's regression and controlling for confounders. Stratified analyses were performed according to the presence of diabetes.

Study II

We used conditional logistic regression to compute ORs as a measure of RR, with associated 95% CIs, for hospitalizations with pneumonia among persons with and without diabetes. An OR is approximately equal to the RR when the outcome is rare (128).

Diabetes exposure was further categorized by type of diabetes, duration of diabetes (<5 years; ≥ 5 -<10 years; ≥ 10 years), and HbA1c level (<7.0%; ≥ 7.0 -<8.0%; ≥ 8.0 -<9.0%; ≥ 9.0 %; unknown). We adjusted for level of comorbidity (low, medium, and high), history of alcoholism-related conditions, pre-admission use of antibiotics or immunosuppressants, marital status (married, never married, divorced or widowed, marital status unknown), household presence of small children attending day-care centers, and degree of urbanization (residence in a rural area with a population of 0–10,000, in a provincial town with a population of 10,000–100,000, or in a city with more than 100,000 inhabitants). Stratified analyses were performed by sex, age group (15–39, 40–64, 65–79, \geq 80 years), and level of comorbidity.

Study III

We divided the participants according to BMI (<22.5, 22.5-24.9, 25.0-29.9, 30.0-34.9, and 35+) similar to groupings used by the WHO (49). (Because of the few participants with BMI <18.5, we used a different cut-point for the lowest BMI category). We defined normal weight as BMI = 22.5-24.9, overweight as BMI = 25.0-29.9, moderate obesity as BMI = 30.0-34.9 and severe obesity as BMI \geq 35.0. We used age as the underlying time variable, with follow-up starting at age at study enrolment. Follow-up extended until age on April 10, 2008, or until age at pneumonia diagnosis, death or migration, whichever occurred first. We computed pneumonia incidence rates by dividing the number of events by the accumulated person-time of follow-up within the groups of BMI, separately for men and women. Cox's regression was used to compute hazard ratios (HRs) as a measure of relative risk for hospitalization with pneumonia according to BMI (reference: 22.5-24.9). We controlled for baseline smoking status (never; former, current <15, 15-25, or >25 g of tobacco/day), alcohol intake (modelled as a restricted cubic spline and an indicator for those who do not drink), schooling (7, 8-10, and >10 years), and educational level (no education, short, middle, long).

To examine whether an association between obesity and pneumonia is explained by other major chronic diseases, in a supplementary analysis we also added the level of our modified Charlsons score achieved during follow-up as a time-dependent variable (Charlson score level low, medium, and high).

Results

Below is a summary of the main results obtained in each of the three studies.

Study I. Type 2 diabetes and pneumonia outcomes

The cohort included 29,900 adult patients with a first-time hospitalization for pneumonia. Of these patients, 2931 (9.8%) had type 2 diabetes, and 92 patients (0.3%) with type 1 diabetes were excluded, leaving 29,808 patients in the final analysis. The median age was 75 years among the diabetic patients and 73 years among the non-diabetic patients. As expected, patients with type 2 diabetes were more likely to have congestive heart failure (23% vs. 10%), a history of myocardial infarction (16% vs. 9%), peripheral vascular disease (13% vs. 7%), cerebrovascular disease (22% vs. 13%), renal disease (6% vs. 3%), and obesity (12% vs. 2%) compared with non-diabetic patients.

Type 2 diabetes and mortality

The cumulative mortality among diabetic patients was 19.9% vs. 15.1% among other patients after 30 days (mortality difference = 4.8%; 95% CI 3.3%–6.3%) and 27.0% vs. 21.6% after 90 days (mortality difference = 5.3%; 95% CI 3.7%–7.0%). Patients with diabetes had higher cumulative mortality, independent of the measured comorbidity level (Figure 8). Adjusted 30-and 90-day MRRs for diabetic pneumonia patients were 1.16 (95% CI 1.07–1.27) and 1.10 (1.02–1.18), compared with non-diabetic pneumonia patients (Table 5). Further adjustment for obesity yielded virtually identical 30- and 90-day MRRs [1.18 (95% CI 1.08–1.29) and 1.12 (1.04–1.20)], as did adjustment for individual disease categories in lieu of Charlson index score levels (1.17 and 1.11, respectively). Patients with type 2 diabetes were slightly more likely than other pneumonia patients to have pneumonia listed as a non-primary discharge diagnosis (40.5% vs. 35.8%). The adjusted 30-day MRR was 1.18 (95% CI 1.05–1.34) for diabetic patients with pneumonia listed as the primary discharge diagnosis.

In the North Jutland cohort, there was no association between diabetes and mortality after adjustment for confounding [30-day MRR 0.98 (95% CI 0.86–1.11); 90-day MRR 0.97 (95% CI 0.87–1.09)]. Among the subset of patients with bacteremic pneumonia, mortality from diabetes was slightly lower, with MRRs of 0.86 (95% CI 0.54–1.38) and 0.92 (95% CI 0.62–1.36), respectively. After the categorical variable for the glucose level at admission was added

to the regression model, the adjusted 30-day and 90-day MRRs for patients with diabetes decreased, respectively, from 0.98 and 0.97 to 0.82 (95% CI 0.71–0.95) and 0.89 (95% CI 0.79–1.00).

Type 2 diabetes, pulmonary complications, and bacteremia

The cumulative incidence of recorded pulmonary complications was 2% among patients with or without diabetes. The overall adjusted RR for pulmonary complications was 1.02 (95% CI 0.75–1.40). Overall, 60.2% of patients with diabetes and 59.7% of other pneumonia patients had at least one blood culture. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* was the pathogen in 51.1% of all bacteremia episodes. Among pneumonia patients with blood cultures available, the adjusted RR for bacteremia in diabetic versus non-diabetic patients was 1.02 (95% CI 0.78–1.33). Patients with diabetes were similar to their non-diabetic counterparts in their risk of pneumococcal bacteremia (adjusted RR 1.17; 95% CI 0.84–1.62), but had a greater risk of bacteremia due to gram-positive pathogens other than *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (adjusted RR 1.69; 95% CI 1.02–2.80) and a lower risk for gram-negative bacteremia (adjusted RR 0.72; 95% CI 0.42–1.23).

Hyperglycemia at admission and mortality

Ninety percent of patients with type 2 diabetes and 71% of non-diabetic patients in the North Jutland subcohort (N = 13,574) had blood glucose values measured at admission or on the following day. An admission glucose level greater than or equal to 14 mmol/L was a predictor of death in those with type 2 diabetes (adjusted 30-day MRR 1.46; 95% CI 1.01–2.12), but an even stronger predictor in those without diabetes (adjusted 30-day MRR 1.91; 95% CI 1.40–2.61) (Table 6).



Figure 8. Mortality curves for patients with type 2 diabetes compared with other patients hospitalized with pneumonia, according to level of the Charlson index score. Solid line: patients with type 2 diabetes. Dashed line: other pneumonia patients.

	п	No. of	Mortality	Unadjusted MRR	Adjusted MRR*
Exposure		deaths		(95% CI)	(95% CI)
30-day					
No diabetes	26,877	4048	15.1%	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)
Type 2 diabetes	2931	582	19.9%	1.36 (1.25–1.48)	1.16 (1.07–1.27)
90-day					
No diabetes	26,877	5818	21.6%	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)
Type 2 diabetes	2931	791	27.0%	1.30 (1.21–1.40)	1.10 (1.02–1.18)

Table 5. Unadjusted and adjusted mortality within 30 and 90 days among patients hospitalized for pneumonia

Data are *n* unless otherwise indicated. *Adjusted for sex, age group, level of comorbidity, alcoholism-related disorders, and use of antibiotics and immunosuppressive drugs before admission.

	п	No. of	Cumulative	Unadjusted MRR	Adjusted MRR*
		deaths	mortality	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
30-day					
Level of glucose					
All patients					
(n = 10,414)					
\leq 6.1 mmol/L	5129	727	14.2%	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)
6.11-11.0 mmol/L	4446	903	20.3%	1.49 (1.36–1.65)	1.37 (1.25–1.51)
11.01-13.99 mmol/L	383	86	22.5%	1.68 (1.35–2.10)	1.49 (1.19–1.86)
$\geq 14 \text{ mmol/L}$	456	107	23.5%	1.79 (1.46–2.20)	1.71 (1.40–2.10)
Patients with type 2					
diabetes ($n = 1307$)					
\leq 6.1 mmol/L	279	52	18.6%	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)
6.11-11.0 mmol/L	545	95	17.4%	0.93 (0.66–1.30)	0.96 (0.69–1.35)
11.01-13.99 mmol/L	188	40	21.3%	1.18 (0.78–1.78)	1.24 (0.82–1.88)
$\geq 14 \text{ mmol/L}$	295	65	22.0%	1.24 (0.86–1.78)	1.46 (1.01–2.12)
Other patients					
(n = 9107)					
\leq 6.1 mmol/L	4850	675	13.9%	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)
6.11-11.0 mmol/L	3901	808	20.7%	1.56 (1.41–1.73)	1.43 (1.29–1.59)
11.01-13.99 mmol/L	195	46	23.6%	1.81 (1.34–2.44)	1.65 (1.23–2.23)
$\geq 14 \text{ mmol/L}$	161	42	26.1%	2.07 (1.51–2.82)	1.91 (1.40–2.61)

Table 6. Unadjusted and adjusted mortality within 30 days among pneumonia patients with available blood glucose values on admission.

*Adjusted for sex, age group, level of comorbidity, alcoholism-related conditions, and use of antibiotics and immunosuppressive drugs before admission.

Study II. Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia

We identified 34,239 patients with a first-time pneumonia-related hospitalization and 342,390 population controls (median age: 74 years). A total of 101 cases (0.3%) and 187 controls (0.1%) were diagnosed with type 1 diabetes, and 4388 cases (12.8%) and 28,299 controls (8.3%) were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes pre-dating their pneumonia-related hospital admissions.

Table 7 shows the RRs for pneumonia-related hospitalizations. The unadjusted RR for pneumonia-related hospitalization among diabetic individuals compared with non-diabetic individuals was 1.68 (95% CI 1.62–1.74) and the adjusted RR was 1.26 (95% CI 1.62–1.74). The adjusted RR was 4.43 (95% CI 3.40–5.77) for individuals with type 1 diabetes and 1.23 (95% CI 1.19–1.28) for individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes duration \geq 10 years increased the risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization (adjusted RR = 1.37; 95% CI 1.28–1.47)). HbA1c level also influenced the risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization among diabetic individuals. Compared with non-diabetic individuals, the RR was 1.22 (95% CI 1.14–1.30) among diabetic individuals with an HbA1c level <7 %, and 1.60 (95% CI 1.44–1.76) among diabetic individuals with an HbA1c level \geq 9%. Using only HbA1c measurements within 6 months instead of 12 months before admission yielded virtually identical risk estimates.

Adult diabetic individuals aged <40 years were three times more likely to be hospitalized with pneumonia than non-diabetic individuals of similar age, while the RR gradually decreased in elderly individuals with diabetes (Table 8). After stratifying by level of comorbidity, the association between diabetes and the risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization was highest among individuals with no coexisting morbidity (adjusted RR = 1.51; 95% CI 1.41–1.61). The adjusted RR for pneumonia listed only as a primary discharge diagnosis was 1.20 (95% CI 1.15–1.26) among diabetic individuals compared with non-diabetic individuals.

Exposure	Unadjusted RR (95% CI)	Adjusted RR [*] (95% CI)	
Diabetes			
Absent	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)	
Present	1.68 (1.62–1.74)	1.26 (1.21–1.31)	
Diabetes type			
Diabetes absent	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)	
Type 1 diabetes	5.55 (4.34-7.08)	4.43 (3.40–5.77)	
Type 2 diabetes	1.65 (1.59–1.71)	1.23 (1.19–1.28)	
Duration of diabetes			
Diabetes absent	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)	
<5 years	1.60 (1.5368)	1.21 (1.14–1.27)	
\geq 5–<10 years	1.60 (1.51–1.70)	1.24 (1.16–1.32)	
≥10 years	1.93 (1.81–2.06)	1.37 (1.28–1.47)	
HbA1c			
Diabetes absent	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (ref.)	
Diabetes present, HbA1c <7%	1.64 (1.54–1.74)	1.22 (1.14–1.30)	
Diabetes present, HbA1c ≥7−<8%	1.62 (1.48–1.76)	1.23 (1.12–1.36)	
Diabetes present, HbA1c ≥8–<9%	1.77 (1.59–1.97)	1.29 (1.15–1.44)	
Diabetes present, HbA1c ≥9%	2.26 (2.07-2.48)	1.60 (1.44–1.76)	
Diabetes present, HbA1c unknown	1.58 (1.50–1.66)	1.21 (1.14–1.28)	

Table 7. Unadjusted and adjusted relative risks (RRs) for hospitalizations associated with pneumonia.

*RR adjusted for level of comorbidity, alcoholism-related conditions, use of systemic antibiotic therapy and immunosuppressants before index hospitalization, marital status, household presence of small children attending day-care centers, and degree of urbanization.

	Unadjusted RR (95% CI)	Adjusted RR [*] (95% CI)		
Diabetes (overall)				
Age (years)				
15–39	3.93 (3.16-4.87)	3.21 (2.51–4.12)		
40–64	2.63 (2.43–2.84)	1.65 (1.51–1.81)		
65–79	1.64 (1.56–1.73)	1.22 (1.15–1.29)		
80+	1.33 (1.25–1.41)	1.11 (1.05–1.18)		
Sex				
Male	1.67 (1.60–1.75)	1.25 (1.19–1.32)		
Female	1.69 (1.60–1.77)	1.26 (1.20–1.33)		
Comorbidity index				
Index low (0)	1.68 (1.58–1.79)	1.51 (1.41–1.61)		
Index medium (1-2)	1.22 (1.15–1.30)	1.15 (1.08–1.22)		
Index high (3+)	1.15 (0.99–1.32)	1.11 (0.95–1.28)		

Table 8. RRs for hospitalization associated with pneumonia according to presence of diabetes stratified by age, sex, and level of comorbidity.

*RR adjusted for level of comorbidity (except when stratified by this variable), alcoholismrelated conditions, use of systemic antibiotic therapy and immunosuppressants before index hospitalization, marital status, household presence of small children attending day-care centers, and degree of urbanization.

Study III. Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danes ages 50 to 64

Descriptive data

Of 57,053 participants in the "Diet, Cancer and Health" cohort, we excluded 331 individuals because of a missing baseline questionnaire or missing variables, 826 individuals who had experienced a hospitalisation for pneumonia before enrolment, and an additional 7,339 individuals who had other major chronic diseases diagnosed before enrolment, leaving 48,557 individuals (22,580 men and 25,977 women) for our analysis.

Among the individuals included in our cohort, 1,088 men and 1,025 women had a first episode of pneumonia-related hospitalization during a median follow-up period of 11.8 and 11.9 years, respectively. The corresponding incidence rates of hospitalizations with pneumonia were 4.2 per 1000 person-years for men and 3.4 per 1000 person-years for women. At enrolment 50% of the participating men were overweight, 12% moderately obese and 2% severely obese. Among women 34% were overweight, 10% moderately obese and 3% severely obese. Compared with participants of normal weight, obese participants were less likely to be smokers but more likely to be former smokers, to be less educated, and to be diagnosed with other major chronic diseases during follow-up. Furthermore, obese men reported higher alcohol intake compared with men of normal weight, while obese women reported lower alcohol intake (data not shown).

Risk estimates

Compared with men of normal weight, adjusted HRs were 1.4 (95% CI 1.2-1.7) for men with moderate obesity, and 2.0 (95% CI 1.4-2.8) for men with severe obesity (Table 9). Among women the associations were weaker with adjusted HRs of 0.8 (95% CI 0.6-1.0) for women with moderate obesity, and 1.2 (95% CI 0.8-1.6) for women with severe obesity. All adjusted HRs were close to the crude estimates, suggesting little confounding by smoking status, alcohol intake, schooling, and educational level together.

Further adjustment for other major chronic diseases diagnosed during follow-up attenuated the association between obesity and pneumonia hospitalization risk. Thus, the adjusted HRs decreased to 1.0 (95% CI 0.8-1.3) among men with moderate obesity, and 1.2 (95% CI 0.8-

1.7) among men with severe obesity. Among women the corresponding adjusted HRs decreased to 0.7 (95% CI 0.6-0.9) for women with moderate obesity, and 0.8 (95% CI 0.6-1.1) for women with severe obesity.

Table 9. Incidence rates and hazard ratio (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of hospitalization with pneumonia among men and women according to body mass index (BMI).

	Body mass index (kg/m ²)				
	<22.5	22.5-24.9	25.0-29.9	30.0-34.9	35+
Men					
Incidence rate*	5.2	3.6	3.9	5.4	7.0
Crude HR (95% CI)**	1.5 (1.2-1.8)	1.0 (ref.)	1.1 (0.9-1.2)	1.5 (1.2-1.8)	2.1 (1.5-3.0)
Adjusted HR (95% CI) †	1.4 (1.1-1.7)	1.0 (ref.)	1.1 (0.9-1.3)	1.4 (1.2-1.7)	2.0 (1.4-2.8)
Adjusted HR (95% CI) ‡	1.4 (1.1-1.7)	1.0 (ref.)	1.0 (0.8-1.1)	1.0 (0.8-1.3)	1.2 (0.8-1.7)
Women					
Incidence rate*	4.0	3.4	3.0	2.9	4.3
Crude HR (95% CI)**	1.3 (1.1-1.5)	1.0 (ref.)	0.8 (0.7-1.0)	0.8 (0.6-1.0)	1.2 (0.8-1.6)
Adjusted HR (95% CI) †	1.2 (1.0-1.4)	1.0 (ref.)	0.9 (0.7-1.0)	0.8 (0.6-1.0)	1.2 (0.8-1.6)
Adjusted HR (95% CI) ‡	1.2 (1.0-1.4)	1.0 (ref.)	0.8 (0.7-1.0)	0.7 (0.6-0.9)	0.8 (0.6-1.1)

*Incidence per 1000 person-years. **The crude HR was calculated with the use of Cox's regression, with age as the underlying time variable. †Multivariable-adjusted model was based on the crude model with additional adjustment for smoking status, alcohol intake, schooling, and educational level.‡Multivariable-adjusted model as specified above and with additional adjustment for other major chronic diseases diagnosed during follow-up

Strengths and weaknesses of the studies

Considerations about research design

We examined *diabetes/hyperglycemia as prognostic factors for pneumonia (study I)* in a cohort design of pneumonia patients exposed and unexposed to diabetes. A cohort study has the advantage of making it possible to compute the absolute risk of the outcome. A disadvantage of cohort studies based on primary data collection is that they are inefficient (because many more individuals must be enrolled than experienced the outcome) as well as time consuming and expensive, because of resources necessary to study many people over time (113). This cohort study was, however, based on already existing data from medical and administrative registries in Denmark, which allowed a large sample size, a population-based design, and complete follow-up for mortality.

We examined *diabetes as a risk factor for pneumonia-related hospitalization (study II)* in a nested case-control design using medical and administrative registries. Alternatively, we could have performed a cohort study based on the same registries starting with a diabetic and a control cohort. Still, the control of confounding would have been more complicated because confounders (e.g., the use of immunosuppressive drugs) may be variably present and the study participants may shift from one confounder category to another (e.g., having small children). The nested case-control design enabled us to address the research question with smaller sample sizes comparing the odds of having diabetes among pneumonia cases and only a sample of the source population in Aarhus and North Jutland counties. Because we sampled the controls with the incidence density technique, the controls provided an estimate of the proportion of the total person-time for exposed and unexposed cohorts in the source population (16). Thus, the estimated OR was an unbiased estimate of the incidence rate ratio and mirrored the result that the underlying cohort would provide (123).

Obesity as risk factors for pneumonia-related hospitalization (study III) can also be examined in both a cohort and a case-control design. In this context, a nested case-control study, in which BMI is measured close to the index hospital admission date, may be preferred. Deciding which study design to choose also, however, depends on the availability of primary or secondary data. Concerning our intended obesity study, The Danish National Registry of Patients/hospital registries did not contain information on BMI or other anthropometric measurements. Nevertheless, at the time *study III* was planned, we obtained access to the cohort "*Diet, Cancer and Health*" (described on page 31), which contains detailed information on anthropometric measurements, lifestyle factors, and history of hospital diagnoses for all participants at enrolment. Nevertheless, the cohort lacks data on certain other confounders (e.g., use of immunosuppressants and other drugs), and participants may have shifted exposure (because of weight gain or weight loss) or confounder category during long-term follow-up (see the next section).

Considerations about bias, confounding and chance

Before deciding whether the associations found in our studies are likely to be causal, we needed to assess the impact of potential bias in selection or measurement/information, confounding factors, and statistical chance (113). The precision of the estimates of associations was described by the 95% CIs in the results section.



Figure 9. Association and cause. From Fletcher Clinical Epidemiology: The Essentials (113).

Study I. Type 2 diabetes and pneumonia outcomes

Selection bias

Selection bias occurs when the association between exposure and outcome differs for participants and non-participants in a study (16). Because of the unique civil registration numbers and the use of population-based registries, we had in this cohort study complete follow-up in terms of the outcomes of death, pulmonary complications, and for the North

Jutland subcohort, bacteremia. Thus, selection bias arising from differential loss-to-follow-up related to diabetes exposure or outcome was not a problem.

The validity of our estimates depended on the data quality for the pneumonia and diabetes diagnoses. Despite inevitable coding errors, the estimated positive predictive value of a discharge diagnosis of pneumonia in Denmark is 90% (95% CI 82–95%) (3). In comparison, the estimated positive predictive value of a pneumonia discharge diagnosis in Holland is 88% (95% CI 80–95) (129), whereas it is 70% (95% CI 0.51–0.89) in the U.S. Veterans Affairs Hospital discharge database (130) (both are based on the International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification).

Information bias

Information bias can arise if the information collected about or from study participants is erroneous (16). The errors may result in misclassification of the exposure, the outcome, or the confounders. Misclassifications can be either non-differential (the errors are evenly distributed among comparison groups) or differential (the errors are unevenly distributed among comparison groups). Only *differential* misclassifications lead to systematic errors.

A previous study suggests that 80–90% of individuals with known diabetes in Denmark can be identified by combining discharge diagnoses from the Danish National Patient Registry with prescription data (131). Still, it is plausible that we missed some diabetic patients in our *study I* cohort who had not been hospitalized previously or treated with anti-diabetic drugs. This oversight could have led to conservative mortality estimates if there were a number of diabetes patients among our unexposed group. It also could have led to an overestimation of the type 2 diabetes–mortality association if the patients we identified with type 2 diabetes had particularly high diabetic disease severity. The predictive value of a diagnosis of diabetes based on the diabetes algorithm applied in *study I* was 97% (95% CI 89–100%) in another study (124).

There are no misclassifications of the outcome death. It is possible, however, that diabetic patients are more likely to have bacteremia or pulmonary complications diagnosed compared with other patients because of the increased surveillance of patients with a known chronic disease. This factor would have caused an overestimation of the RR of these complications

associated with diabetes. The identical proportions of patients with at least one blood culture taken (60.2% vs. 59.7%) argues against differential surveillance.

Confounding

Confounding can be defined as "distortion in an effect measure introduced by an extraneous variate" (17). For example, in this cohort study, the effect of diabetes could be mixed with the effect of another factor (e.g., age) in the outcome of pneumonia. To act as a confounder in a study of diabetes and mortality, a factor must fulfill three criteria (16), as follows. It must (1) be associated with the outcome (mortality); (2) be associated with the exposure (diabetes); and (3) not be an effect of the exposure (diabetes). Residual confounding in our studies could have arisen from misclassification and inappropriate categorization of the confounding factors that we included and controlled for, whereas unmeasured confounding could have arisen because of known confounding factors, which we could not control for. Unknown confounding could, as the term indicates, arise because of confounding by unknown factors.

To control for comorbidity, we used the Charlson Comorbidity Index. This index includes 19 disease categories, selected and weighted according to their associated RR of 1-year mortality in a cohort of 604 medical patients (126). The comorbidity index was subsequently tested for its ability to predict 10-year mortality in a cohort of breast cancer patients (126). Other weights may have been applied if the index had been developed for a different population (132). Furthermore, because the index was developed on the basis of a relatively small number of patients, rare diseases may not have been considered for inclusion in the index (133).

Comorbidity may be coded more completely in patients with diabetes for two reasons: Diabetes is a chronic disease that can lead to frequent contact with the health care system and thereby facilitate early diagnosis and coding of comorbid diseases. Conversely, patients in contact with the health care system for a comorbid disease may be more likely to have diabetes diagnosed. Such a differential misclassification of comorbidity may lead to underestimation of the comorbidity adjusted RRs between diabetic and non-diabetic patients but would of course not influence the crude RRs. Because diabetes was the exposure, diabetes was excluded from the Charlson index (two of the nineteen disease categories relate to diabetes) and included as a separate variable in the analyses. These circumstances may have weakened the index's ability to predict mortality. To counter these potential limitations, we alternatively adjusted for individual disease categories in lieu of Charlson index score levels. This adjustment left our estimates virtually unchanged. Furthermore, we found with each increased level of the Charlson index score a stepwise increase in the adjusted MRR among patients hospitalized with pneumonia [adj. 30-day MRR for index low: 1.0 (ref.), index medium: 1.3 (95% CI 1.2–1.4), and index high: 1.7 (95% CI 1.6–1.9)].

The Charlson index contains disease categories such as myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, dementia, and renal disease that might be an effect of diabetes. It is therefore debatable whether these conditions should be considered confounding factors because they might be regarded as intermediates in the causal pathway from diabetes to pneumonia (16). Still, in our studies, we sought to examine the impact of diabetes without the influence of these diabetes-related diseases.

Lack of data precluded adjustment for pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations. Nevertheless, the overall uptake of pneumococcal vaccine in the North Jutland region has been as low as 2 per 1000 people/year since 1997 (124). Thus, we do not expect that pneumococcal vaccination had a major impact on our estimates. In the case of influenza, vaccination is recommended and provided free of charge for all patients >65 years of age regardless of the presence of diabetes or other comorbidities, and almost 70% of our pneumonia patients were >65 years of age. In our study, it was possible that patients with diabetes were vaccinated at higher rates than other patients with pneumonia. If vaccination has a beneficial effect on pneumonia outcome, as has been recently suggested (134;135), we then would have underestimated the relative diabetes-related mortality and our study's conclusion would be unaltered. Finally, we did not have data on antibiotic treatment or other medical treatments during the hospital stay. Nevertheless, *Streptococcus pneumoniae* was the microbiological agent in 51.1% of all bacteremia episodes in our study. In Denmark, S. pneumoniae is almost always penicillin sensitive [the resistance of S. pneumoniae to penicillins is between 0.4% and 0.8% in Denmark (136)], and penicillin continues to be recommended as the drug of choice for treating pneumonia in Denmark (137).

Comment on CAP and hospital-acquired pneumonia

We are aware that it is important to distinguish between community- and hospital-acquired pneumonia. Because diagnoses at the time of hospital admission were unavailable in the registry, we could not clearly distinguish between community- and hospital-acquired cases.

The crude mortality rates from hospital-acquired pneumonia range from 30% to as high as 70% (138). Thomsen et al. found that based on a random sample of 100 hospitalizations with pneumonia, 13% of pneumonia episodes in the hospital registry from North Jutland County were hospital acquired (3). If patients with diabetes were relatively more susceptible to hospital-acquired pneumonia because of more frequent hospitalizations, failure to discriminate between community- and hospital-acquired disease could partly explain the greater diabetes-related mortality found in our study compared with that in the study by Kaplan (40). To address the community vs. hospital-acquired question further, we performed a subanalysis in which we differentiated between primary and secondary discharge diagnoses. However, a similarly increased mortality associated with type 2 diabetes was observed regardless of whether pneumonia was listed as the primary discharge diagnosis [30-day MRR = 1.13 (95% CI 1.00–1.27) or as any-listed discharge diagnoses (adjusted 30-day MRR = 1.16 (95% CI 1.07–1.27)].

Study II. Diabetes, glycemic control, and risk of hospitalization with pneumonia *Selection bias*

Selection bias in our case-control study could have arisen if diabetes increased the risk of being diagnosed as a pneumonia case because of a lower threshold for admitting diabetic patients with infections. Such a bias would lead to overestimation of the RR associated with diabetes. However, concerning type 2 diabetes, among patients with type 2 diabetes and nondiabetic patients with pneumonia, study I showed comparable levels of preadmission use of antibiotics (39% vs. 39%), levels of inflammatory markers [median C-reactive protein 85 mg/L (interquartile range, IQR, 32–176 mg/L) vs. 88 mg/L (IQR 34–181 mg/L); leukocyte $12.7 \ 10^{9}$ /L (IQR 9.5–17.2 10^{9} /L) vs. 12.1 10^{9} /L (IQR 8.9–16.2 10^{9} /L), and PaO₂ (median PaO₂ 8.1 kPa; IQR 6.8–9.7kPa) vs. 8.2 kPa, (IQR 6.9–9.7 kPa)], and proportion of patients with at least one blood culture (60.2% vs. 59.7%). These results suggest that there was no severe bias associated with admission of patients with type 2 diabetes. However, for type 1 diabetes, the possibility remains that increased surveillance affected risk estimates. In fact, unpublished laboratory data from study I showed that pneumonia patients with type 1 diabetes had lower levels of C-reactive protein upon admission [median C-reactive protein 69 mg/L (interquartile range, IQR, 29-175 mg/L) vs. 88 mg/L (IQR 34-181 mg/L)] and lower pneumonia-related mortality (90-day MRR = 0.34; 95% CI 0.13–0.90). Patients with type 1 diabetes may be more likely to seek medical attention and to be hospitalized because of problems with glucose regulation triggered by pneumonia and risk of ketoacidosis.

Information bias

Because of improved identification of patients with untreated type 2 diabetes, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes cases identified in *study II* was higher than in *study I* (12.8% vs. 9.8%). Nevertheless, the possibility remains that we missed a few diet-treated patients with type 2 diabetes who never had been hospitalized or who received one of the health services mentioned on page 36. Such a misclassification would be non-differential and would diminish any observed difference in risk estimates. By using highly valid algorithms to collect data on diabetes and possible confounding factors before the date of hospitalization for pneumonia (131), we avoided the recall bias present in case-control studies based on interviews or questionnaires. The categorization of diabetes into type and duration of diabetes was based on registry data and may not be entirely correct (partly because the hospital registry first was established in 1977 and the prescription registries in 1991 and 1996, respectively).

Confounding

The Charlson index was not developed to predict the risk of subsequent diseases, including pneumonia. However, it includes most important risk factors for pneumonia, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, liver disease, dementia, AIDS, renal disease, and cancer. Furthermore, similar to *study I*, we found with each increased level of Charlson index score a stepwise increase in the adjusted RR for pneumonia-related hospitalization in both this study and in study III.

Pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations may reduce the risk of pneumonia (139;140). If patients with diabetes were vaccinated at higher rates than others, the RR of pneumoniarelated hospitalization would be underestimated and would not alter our conclusion. We adjusted for marital status, an important aspect of social support that may be related both to having a chronic disease like diabetes (141) and to infections (142). Unfortunately, we did not have data on other socio-economic factors such as income, education, and occupation. Moreover, we did not have data on smoking and alcohol consumption in the hospital registries. If more patients with diabetes were smokers and alcohol users than non-diabetics, these factors would lead to an overestimation of the RR of pneumonia-related hospitalization. Nevertheless, we adjusted for proxy measures for smoking and alcohol abuse such as chronic pulmonary disease and a history of alcoholism-related disorders.

Study III. Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danes aged 50 to 64

Selection bias

Because we used population-based registries to ascertain the outcome hospitalized pneumonia, we had virtually complete follow-up.

Information bias

In *study III*, all height and weight measurements were performed by a laboratory technician at baseline, which reduces the potential bias toward a higher risk of pneumonia at lower BMI ranges resulting from possible understated weight in obese individuals (143). Erroneous measurements would probably be independent of a later diagnosis of pneumonia and thus a non-differential misclassification. The BMI may, however, have changed during follow-up because of weight gain or weight loss. If participants gained weight during follow-up, the association between baseline obesity and risk of pneumonia would have been overestimated. The association could, however, also have been overestimated if participants lost weight due to an undiagnosed underlying subclinical condition.

Because of the increased surveillance of patients with chronic diseases, physicians may be more likely to admit an obese patient with pneumonia compared with a patient of normal weight. Such bias would lead to an overestimation of the RR associated with obesity. Unfortunately, we did not have complete data on pneumonia severity upon hospital admission in obese vs. normal-weight patients to evaluate the extent of such bias.

Confounding

We modified the Charlson index by including three other diseases associated with risk of pneumonia thereby including most important diseases acting as risk factors for pneumonia. Nevertheless, inaccuracy of discharge data and presence of diagnoses not included in the Index may have reduced our ability to control for the influence of some chronic diseases. Furthermore, the Charlson index contains diseases that might be an effect of obesity, including diabetes, myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, liver disease, cerebrovascular disease, dementia, chronic pulmonary disease and renal disease. (See discussion on page 56.)

Because we based our information on self-reported smoking and alcohol use at the time of enrolment, we cannot exclude residual confounding if this information was wrongly reported or if smoking or drinking habits changed over time. Still, alcohol use and smoking did not act as strong confounders in this study. Finally, lack of data precluded adjustment for medications including use of systemic antibiotic therapy, immunosuppressive drugs, and pneumococcal and influenza vaccination.

Discussion

Diabetes as a risk factor for hospitalization with pneumonia

Our data extend previous studies suggesting that diabetes is a risk factor for pneumonia with RRs ranging from 1.25–1.75 (19;21;78;80;81;107). We observed a difference in risk estimates for pneumonia-related hospitalization by type of diabetes. In comparison, the only previous study that distinguished between type 1 and 2 diabetes found that patients with type 1 and 2 diabetes had a 1.32 (95% CI 1.13–1.53) and 1.42 times (95% CI 0.96–2.08) greater risk of general practitioner-diagnosed "lower respiratory tract infection" (80). We found the highest RR estimates among young diabetic adults and among diabetic individuals without coexisting morbidity, which is in line with findings for pneumococcal bacteremia (117). Our findings of an increased risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization due to poor long-term glycemic control and longer diabetes duration have, to the best of our knowledge, not previously been reported.

In addition to increased surveillance, the higher risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization in patients with type 1 diabetes compared to those with type 2 diabetes could also arise from different disease pathogenesis. Unlike type 2 diabetes, type 1 diabetes is characterized by reduced or totally absent insulin secretion. Insulin levels are often higher in the face of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes and insulin may itself have anti-inflammatory effects (144). The observation that longer diabetes duration increased the risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization could be due to worsening of the described microangiopathic changes in the basement membranes of pulmonary blood vessels and respiratory epithelium in diabetic persons (91). Diabetes combined with an HbA1c level \geq 9% was associated in our study with a 60% increased risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization, while diabetes combined with an HbA1c <7% was associated with an only 22% increased risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization. These results agree with observations from in vitro studies in which hyperglycemia was associated with abnormalities in neutrophil function (145) (page 19). Nevertheless, our results also show that even individuals with well-controlled diabetes have a higher risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization compared with non-diabetic individuals, indicating that the increased susceptibility to pneumonia among diabetic individuals has a multifactorial cause.

Type 2 diabetes, hyperglycemia, and outcomes following pneumonia-related hospitalization

Our finding of a 16% increased 30-day mortality associated with type 2 diabetes is consistent with results from previous cohort studies (23;110;111) and with the 1996 meta-analysis of CAP prognosis by Fine et al. (unadj. OR = 1.3; 95% CI 1.1–1.5). In comparison, a recent Spanish study found that diabetes was associated with a 2-fold increased 30-day mortality (112). This study relied, however, upon a cohort admitted to a single university hospital and may have included diabetic patients with greater disease severity compared to our population-based cohort. Hyperglycemia on admission was, in our study, associated with a poor prognosis in both diabetic and non-diabetic patients with pneumonia [adj. 30-day MRRs for glucose level \geq 14 mmol/L were 1.46 (95% CI 1.01–2.12) and 1.91 (1.40–2.61), respectively], which agrees with the few previous studies on hyperglycemia and outcome of pneumonia (37;44). Of importance, like McAlister et al., we observed that the risk of mortality was substantially increased at much lower glucose levels than the level (\geq 14 mmol/L) incorporated in the PSI (44).

After we controlled for admission glucose level in the subset of patients with available glucose measurements, type 2 diabetes no longer predicted increased mortality following pneumonia. The analysis suggests that most of the effect on mortality associated with type 2 diabetes is mediated through glucose level. The impact of hyperglycemia on mortality was lower among patients with type 2 diabetes than that among other patients. In non-diabetic patients, hyperglycemia could signal physiological stress and thus greater pneumonia severity (146). Furthermore some non-diabetic patients with hyperglycemia could have been undiagnosed and therefore untreated diabetic patients (146), experiencing a poor outcome following pneumonia. By contrast, in diabetic patients, hyperglycemia could be the result of poorly controlled diabetes, stress, or both because we did not know the baseline concentration of glucose (147). In addition, patients with type 2 diabetes might be more likely to receive insulin for hyperglycemia during pneumonia-related hospitalization, potentially improving their outcome (94).

The elevated mortality that we observed in diabetic patients did not appear to be mediated through more pulmonary complications. Rather, we found that patients with diabetes had more underlying renal disease and considerably higher levels of urea nitrogen and creatinine at the time of admission. Urea nitrogen level on admission has been shown to predict CAP outcome and is included in prognosis prediction rules such as the PSI score (44). We did not observe an elevated risk of bacteremia in diabetic pneumonia patients. In the subgroup of bacteremic pneumonia patients, mortality estimates for those with diabetes were actually below one, confirming previous findings for diabetic patients with pneumococcal bacteremia (124).

Study III: Obesity and risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among Danes aged 50 to 64

In contrast to our findings, Baik et al. found that obesity was associated with an elevated risk of pneumonia among women in the Nurses' Health study (adjusted RR = 2.2; 95% CI 1.6– 3.2) but not among men in the Health Professionals' Follow-up Study (RR = 1.0; 95% CI 0.6-1.7) (7). Compared with our study, the US studies included younger women (aged 27 to 44 years) and elder men (aged 44-79). If the relative impact of obesity is greatest in younger adults, this age difference could explain part of the different risk estimates according to sex between the above studies and our study. Furthermore, the Nurses' Health Study II was based on self-reported physician-diagnosed pneumonia with the risk of over- or underreporting, while we use population-based hospital registries to obtain information on hospitalization with pneumonia. Unlike our study, two recent case-control studies reported a slightly reduced risk of pneumonia among obese individuals (19;28). A reason, for the lower risk associated with obesity in the mentioned case-control studies compared with our study, could be that the height and weight measurements in our study were performed at baseline and in particular obese participants may have gained further weight during follow-up causing an overestimation. In the case-control studies information on self-reported height and weight were collected close to the index pneumonia episodes. Part of the lower risk estimates in the case-control studies could, however, also be explained by lacking adjustment for smoking (19) or residual confounding because of inappropriate categorisation of the smoking variable (28).

After we added other major chronic diseases to the regression model, obesity no longer predicted higher risk of pneumonia and even tended to predict a lower risk among women. The results of this analysis suggest that much of the increased pneumonia risk associated with obesity is explained by presence of other chronic diseases (see the paragraph "Other complications of obesity" on page 12).

63

Interestingly, we found that obesity was more strongly related to the risk of pneumonia among men than among women. This sex difference remained after adjustment for other major chronic diseases and thus could not solely be due to difference in the burden of chronic diseases. The reasons for this sex difference are unclear. Differences in fat distribution may play a role as abdominal obesity, which is more prevalent in men than in women (148), may restrict the descent of the diaphragm and cause reduced ventilation at the lung bases (63). Reasons may also include other biological factors, residual confounding or the play of chance.

Main conclusions

Based on the results in the three studies and an evaluation of potential bias, confounding, and chance, we draw the following main conclusions:

Study I

Type 2 diabetes was a predictor for increased mortality from pneumonia, although this was largely explained by differences in patient age and comorbidity. Type 2 diabetes did not predict pulmonary complications or bacteremia. Admission glucose levels of >11 mmol/L in type 2 diabetic patients and of >6 mmol/L in other patients predicted increased mortality.

Study II

Type 1 diabetes was associated with 4.4-fold higher risk of a pneumonia-related hospitalization, and type 2 diabetes was associated with a 1.2-fold higher risk. Poor long-term glycemic control and longer diabetes duration clearly increased the risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization. Also, the relative impact of diabetes was greatest in younger adults and in individuals without coexisting morbidity.

Study III

Obesity was associated with a markedly increased risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among men but not among women. This higher risk was apparently explained by presence of other chronic diseases in obese individuals.

Perspectives

As the prevalence of obesity and diabetes continues to rise, the burden and health care costs of pneumonia due to obesity and diabetes are likely to increase. Nevertheless, obesity and type 2 diabetes can largely be prevented through lifestyle interventions, including increased physical activity and a healthy diet. Prevention of obesity and related type 2 diabetes is a difficult task and requires a large effort from the individual, the health care system, and society in general.

Influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations are important interventions against pneumonia. Influenza vaccine may reduce the risk of pneumonia by 53% in the elderly (140), while the current pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV23) may reduce risk of pneumococcal bacteremia (139;149;150). The effectiveness of PPV23 in preventing non-bacteremic pneumonia is doubtful (149;150). It appears that the introduction of a new 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7) for all infants has reduced the incidence of both bacteremic and non-bacteremic pneumococcal disease in the United States (151), including in elderly individuals. Thus, persons with diabetes and obesity might well benefit from the 2007 introduction of universal PCV7 for children aged ≤ 12 months in Denmark. Other preventive measures in the diabetic or obese individual would be to avoid other risk factors for pneumonia, including crowding, smoking, heavy alcohol intake, and probably excessive weight gain and unnecessary antibiotic use.

The fact that every fourth patient with type 2 diabetes dies within 90 days following pneumonia hospitalization is of great clinical and public health concern. It suggests that the current hospitalization routines and surveillance during and after pneumonia-related hospitalization in Denmark can be improved. Implementation of up-to-date clinical guidelines for correct treatment of pneumonia and sepsis are important. Examples are the new electronic guidelines for pneumonia treatment in the North and Central Denmark Regions (152), guidelines for pneumonia treatment from the Institute for Rational Pharmacotherapy (153), or nationwide guidelines for the correct treatment of sepsis in the national patient safety campaign "Operation Life" (154). Interventions such as pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations and statin therapy have recently been associated with improved survival following pneumonia (134;135;155), but our knowledge about prognostics factors for pneumonia specifically in diabetic patients is limited. Clinicians should predict that diabetic

and other patients with high blood glucose on admission will have an increased risk of death, while future studies may foster our understanding by examining the impact of long-term glycemic control, insulin vs. oral anti-diabetic treatment, and preadmission use of statins on pneumonia outcomes in diabetic patients. Studies that examine the specific causes of death in diabetic patients hospitalized with pneumonia are also needed.

The hope is that the findings in this thesis will contribute to continuous improvements in our ability to predict, understand, and change the risk and prognosis for pneumonia in patients with diabetes and obesity.

Summary

Pneumonia is a major clinical and public health problem. Pneumonia-related hospitalizations have increased by 20–50% in Western populations during the past 10 years, and reported inhospital mortality remains high at 5% to 15%. Concurrently, the prevalence of obesity and diabetes is increasing globally. Patients with diabetes may have an increased risk and worse outcome of pneumonia due to hyperglycemia, decreased immunity, impaired lung function, chronic complications of diabetes, and an increased risk of aspiration. Obese individuals may also have an increased risk of pneumonia, but it is unclear whether such a relation might be due to obesity *per se* or explained by other acquired diseases associated with obesity.

The aims of this thesis were to examine (1) whether type 2 diabetes increases the risk of death and complications among patients hospitalized with pneumonia and to assess the prognostic value of admission hyperglycemia (*study I*); (2) whether diabetes is a risk factor for hospitalization with pneumonia and to assess the impact of glycemic control on such risk (*study II*); and (3) whether obesity increases the risk of hospitalization with pneumonia among men and women taking the presence of other major chronic diseases into account (*study III*). The three studies were based on Danish medical and administrative databases.

In *study I*, we conducted a population-based cohort study of 29,900 adults with first-time hospitalization for pneumonia. Overall, 10% of patients had type 2 diabetes. Mortality 30 and 90 days post-admission was higher among diabetic than other patients: 19.9% vs. 15.1% and 27.0% vs. 21.6%, respectively, corresponding to slightly increased adjusted 30- and 90-day MRRs of 1.16 (95% CI 1.07–1.27) and 1.10 (1.02–1.18). Presence of type 2 diabetes did not predict pulmonary complications or bacteremia. An admission glucose level \geq 14 mmol/L was a strong predictor of death in those with type 2 diabetes (adjusted 30-day MRR 1.46; 95% CI 1.01–2.12), but an even stronger predictor in those without diabetes (adjusted 30-day MRR 1.91; 95% CI 1.40–2.61). In *study II*, we included 34,239 hospitalized pneumonia cases and 10 sex- and age-matched population controls per case in a population-based case-control study. Persons with type 1 and type 2 diabetes had a 4.4 (95% CI 3.4–5.8) and 1.2 (95% CI 1.2–1.3) times higher risk of pneumonia-related hospitalization compared with other individuals. Compared with non-diabetic individuals, diabetic persons whose HbA1c level was \geq 9% had a 60% increased risk. In *study III*, we examined the association of BMI with the

risk of an incident pneumonia-related hospitalization among 48,557 individuals from the Danish "Diet, Cancer and Health" study. We found that the risk of pneumonia was increased 1.4 (95% CI 1.2-1.7)-fold in men with moderate obesity and 2.0 (95% CI 1.4-2.8)-fold in men with severe obesity, compared with men of normal weight. Among women, severe obesity was associated with a 1.2 (95% CI 0.8–1.6)-fold increased risk, whereas women with moderate obesity had no increased risk of pneumonia (HR = 0.8; 95% CI 0.6-1.0). After we added other major chronic diseases to the regression model, obesity no longer predicted higher risk of pneumonia and even tended to predict a lower risk among women.

In conclusion, our studies show that type 2 diabetes predicts slightly increased mortality, but not pulmonary complications or bacteremia following pneumonia. Hyperglycemia on admission is a strong predictor for mortality following pneumonia in both diabetic and other patients. Our data, combined with previous results, provide strong evidence that diabetes is a risk factor for hospitalized pneumonia, in particular if associated with poor long-term glycemic control. Finally, obesity is associated with a markedly increased risk of subsequent hospitalization with pneumonia among men but not among women. This higher risk is apparently explained by presence of other chronic diseases in obese individuals.

Dansk resumé

Pneumoni udgør et betydeligt klinisk og samfundsmæssig problem. Antallet af indlæggelser med pneumoni er steget med 20-50% over de sidste 10 år i den vestlige verden. Dødeligheden efter indlæggelse med pneumoni er vedvarende høj, dvs. mellem 5 og 15%. Samtidig ses en global stigning i prævalensen af fedme og diabetes. Patienter med diabetes kan have øget risiko og forværret prognose for pneumoni på grund af hyperglykæmi, nedsat immunforsvar, nedsat lungefunktion, sendiabetiske komplikationer, og en øget risiko for aspiration. Fedme øger muligvis også risikoen for pneumoni, men det er uklart om en evt. sammenhæng mellem fedme og lungeinfektioner skyldes fedme i sig selv eller andre kroniske sygdomme relateret til fedme.

Formålet med denne afhandling har været at klarlægge 1) om type 2 diabetes øger risikoen for død og komplikationer hos patienter indlagt med pneumoni, samt at bestemme den prognostiske værdi af hyperglykæmi målt ved indlæggelsen (studie I), 2) om diabetes er en risikofaktor for indlæggelse med pneumoni, og om den glykæmiske regulering har indflydelse på pneumonirisikoen (studie II), og 3) sammenhængen mellem fedme og risikoen for at blive indlagt med pneumoni og at undersøge om en evt. sammenhæng kan forklares ved forekomsten af andre kroniske sygdomme hos individer med fedme. (studie III). Studierne er baserede på danske kliniske og administrative databaser.

Studie I var et kohortestudie omfattende 29.900 voksne med en førstegangsindlæggelse med diagnosen pneumoni. Ti procent af patienterne havde type 2 diabetes. Vi fandt at dødeligheden hhv. 30 og 90 dage efter indlæggelse med pneumoni var højere hos patienter med type 2 diabetes end hos andre patienter: 19,9% mod 15,1% og 27,0% mod 21,6%, svarende til justerede 30- og 90-dages mortalitets rate ratioer (MRR'er) på 1,16 (95% konfidensinterval (KI) 1,07-1,27) og 1,10 (95% KI 1,02-1,18). Type 2 diabetes var ikke en prædiktor for lungekomplikationer eller bakteriæmi inden for 30 dage efter indlæggelse. Et blodsukkerniveau \geq 14 mmol/l målt ved indlæggelsen var en stærk prædiktor for død efter pneumoni hos patienter med type 2 diabetes (justeret 30-dags MRR 1,46,95% KI 1,01-2,12), men en endnu stærkere prædiktor hos patienter uden kendt diabetes (justeret 30-dag MRR 1,91,95% CI 1,40-2,61). I studie 2 inkluderede vi 34,239 indlagte pneumoni-cases og 10 køns- og alders-matchede kontroller per case udtrukket via CPR-registeret. Vi fandt at personer med type 1 hhv. type 2 diabetes havde en 4,4 (95% KI 3,4-5,8) og 1,2 (95% KI 1,2-

1,3) gange øget risiko for at blive indlagt med pneumoni sammenlignet med ikke-diabetikere. Sammenlignet med personer uden kendt diabetes havde diabetikere med et HbA1c niveau på <7% en 22% højere risiko for indlæggelse med pneumoni, mens diabetikere med et HbA1c niveau på $\geq 9\%$ havde en 60% øget risiko. I studie III undersøgte vi sammenhængen mellem fedme og risikoen for at blive førstegangs-indlagt med pneumoni i en follow-up-undersøgelse af 48,557 personer inkluderet i den danske Kost, kræft og helbred kohorte. Vi fandt at risikoen for pneumoni var øget 1,4 (95% KI 1,2-1,7) gange blandt mænd med moderat fedme og 2,0 (95% KI 1,4-2,8) gange hos mænd med svær fedme, sammenlignet med normal-vægtige mænd. Hos kvinder var svær fedme associeret med en 1,2 (95% KI 0,8-1,6) gange øget risiko, mens kvinder med moderat fedme ikke havde en øget risiko for pneumoni (HR = 0,8; 95% KI 0,6-1,0). Efter justering for andre store kroniske sygdomme diagnosticeret under follow-up var fedme ikke længere associeret med øget pneumoni risiko og blandt kvinder fandt vi tilmed en nedsat pneumoni risiko.

Sammenfattende viser vore resultater at type 2 diabetes prædikterer let øget dødelighed, men ikke lungekomplikationer eller bakteriæmi efter indlæggelse med pneumoni. Hyperglykæmi målt ved indlæggelsen er en stærk prædiktor for øget pneumoni-dødelighed både hos personer med og uden kendt diabetes. Vores data kombineret med tidligere studier giver stærk evidens for, at diabetes er en risikofaktor for indlæggelse med pneumoni, især i forbindelse med dårlig glykæmisk regulering. Endelig tyder vores resultater på, at fedme er associeret med en betydelig øget risiko for en pneumoni-relateret indlæggelse blandt mænd men ikke blandt kvinder. Den højere risiko kan tilsyneladende forklares ved forekomsten af andre kroniske sygdomme hos personer med fedme.
References

- (1) Kung HC, Hoyert DL, Xu J, Murphy SL. Deaths: final data for 2005. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2008 Apr 24;56(10):1-120.
- (2) Fry AM, Shay DK, Holman RC, Curns AT, Anderson LJ. Trends in hospitalizations for pneumonia among persons aged 65 years or older in the United States, 1988-2002. JAMA 2005 Dec 7;294(21):2712-9.
- (3) Thomsen RW, Riis A, Nørgaard M, Jacobsen J, Christensen S, McDonald CJ, et al. Rising incidence and persistently high mortality of hospitalized pneumonia: a 10-year population-based study in Denmark. J Intern Med 2006 Apr;259(4):410-7.
- (4) Trotter CL, Stuart JM, George R, Miller E. Increasing hospital admissions for pneumonia, England. Emerg Infect Dis 2008 May;14(5):727-33.
- (5) Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care 2004 May;27(5):1047-53.
- (6) Joshi N, Caputo GM, Weitekamp MR, Karchmer AW. Infections in patients with diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1999 Dec 16;341(25):1906-12.
- (7) Baik I, Curhan GC, Rimm EB, Bendich A, Willett WC, Fawzi WW. A prospective study of age and lifestyle factors in relation to community-acquired pneumonia in US men and women. Arch Intern Med 2000 Nov 13;160(20):3082-8.
- (8) Marrie TJ. Community-acquired pneumonia. Clin Infect Dis 1994 Apr;18(4):501-13.
- (9) Mandell LA. Epidemiology and etiology of community-acquired pneumonia. Infect Dis Clin North Am 2004 Dec;18(4):761-76, vii.
- (10) Donowitz GR, Mandell GL. Acute Pneumonia. In: Mandell G, Bennett JF, Dolin R, editors. Mandell, Bennett, & Dolin: Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases, 6th ed. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone; 2005.
- (11) Marrie TJ. Community-acquired pneumonia: epidemiology, etiology, treatment. Infect Dis Clin North Am 1998 Sep;12(3):723-40.
- (12) Lim WS, Macfarlane JT, Boswell TC, Harrison TG, Rose D, Leinonen M, et al. Study of community acquired pneumonia aetiology (SCAPA) in adults admitted to hospital: implications for management guidelines. Thorax 2001 Apr;56(4):296-301.
- (13) File TM. Community-acquired pneumonia. Lancet 2003 Dec 13;362(9400):1991-2001.

- (14) Mandell LA. Community-acquired pneumonia. Etiology, epidemiology, and treatment. Chest 1995 Aug;108(2 Suppl):35S-42S.
- (15) Mandell LA, Wunderink R. Pneumonia. In: Fauci AS, Braunwald E, Kasper DL, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, et al., editors. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. 17th ed. 2008.
- (16) Rothman KJ. Epidemiology: an introduction. Oxford University Press; 2002.
- (17) Rothman KJ. Causes. Am J Epidemiol 1976 Dec;104(6):587-92.
- (18) Almirall J, Bolibar I, Balanzo X, Gonzalez CA. Risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia in adults: a population-based case-control study. Eur Respir J 1999 Feb;13(2):349-55.
- (19) Almirall J, Bolibar I, Serra-Prat M, Roig J, Hospital I, Carandell E, et al. New evidence of risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia: a population-based study. Eur Respir J 2008 Jun;31(6):1274-84.
- (20) Doran MF, Crowson CS, Pond GR, O'Fallon WM, Gabriel SE. Frequency of infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared with controls: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum 2002 Sep;46(9):2287-93.
- (21) Jackson ML, Neuzil KM, Thompson WW, Shay DK, Yu O, Hanson CA, et al. The burden of community-acquired pneumonia in seniors: results of a population-based study. Clin Infect Dis 2004 Dec 1;39(11):1642-50.
- (22) Koivula I, Sten M, Makela PH. Risk factors for pneumonia in the elderly. Am J Med 1994 Apr;96(4):313-20.
- (23) LaCroix AZ, Lipson S, Miles TP, White L. Prospective study of pneumonia hospitalizations and mortality of U.S. older people: the role of chronic conditions, health behaviors, and nutritional status. Public Health Rep 1989 Jul;104(4):350-60.
- (24) Laheij RJ, Sturkenboom MC, Hassing RJ, Dieleman J, Stricker BH, Jansen JB. Risk of community-acquired pneumonia and use of gastric acid-suppressive drugs. JAMA 2004 Oct 27;292(16):1955-60.
- (25) Lange P, Vestbo J, Nyboe J. Risk factors for death and hospitalization from pneumonia. A prospective study of a general population. Eur Respir J 1995 Oct;8(10):1694-8.
- (26) Myles PR, Hubbard RB, McKeever TM, Pogson Z, Smith CJ, Gibson JE. Risk of community-acquired pneumonia and the use of statins, ace inhibitors and gastric acid suppressants: a population-based case-control study. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2009 Feb 23;18(4):269-75.

- (27) Sarkar M, Hennessy S, Yang YX. Proton-pump inhibitor use and the risk for community-acquired pneumonia. Ann Intern Med 2008 Sep 16;149(6):391-8.
- (28) Schnoor M, Klante T, Beckmann M, Robra BP, Welte T, Raspe H, et al. Risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia in German adults: the impact of children in the household. Epidemiol Infect 2007 Nov;135(8):1389-97.
- (29) Talbot TR, Hartert TV, Mitchel E, Halasa NB, Arbogast PG, Poehling KA, et al. Asthma as a risk factor for invasive pneumococcal disease. N Engl J Med 2005 May 19;352(20):2082-90.
- (30) Tvedebrink T, Lundbye-Christensen S, Thomsen RW, Dethlefsen C, Schonheyder HC. Seasonal changes in climatic parameters and their relationship with the incidence of pneumococcal bacteraemia in Denmark. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008 Dec;14(12):1183-6.
- (31) File TM. The epidemiology of respiratory tract infections. Semin Respir Infect 2000 Sep;15(3):184-94.
- (32) Thomsen RW. Diabetes Mellitus and Community-acquired Bacteremia: Risk and Prognosis Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital and Department of Clinical Microbiology, Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospital; 2004.
- (33) Moons KG, Royston P, Vergouwe Y, Grobbee DE, Altman DG. Prognosis and prognostic research: what, why, and how? BMJ 2009;338:b375.
- (34) Altman DG. Systematic reviews of evaluations of prognostic variables. BMJ 2001 Jul 28;323(7306):224-8.
- (35) Fine MJ, Smith MA, Carson CA, Mutha SS, Sankey SS, Weissfeld LA, et al. Prognosis and outcomes of patients with community-acquired pneumonia. A metaanalysis. JAMA 1996 Jan 10;275(2):134-41.
- (36) Feagan BG, Marrie TJ, Lau CY, Wheeler SL, Wong CJ, Vandervoort MK. Treatment and outcomes of community-acquired pneumonia at Canadian hospitals. CMAJ 2000 May 16;162(10):1415-20.
- (37) McAlister FA, Majumdar SR, Blitz S, Rowe BH, Romney J, Marrie TJ. The relation between hyperglycemia and outcomes in 2,471 patients admitted to the hospital with community-acquired pneumonia. Diabetes Care 2005 Apr;28(4):810-5.
- (38) Mortensen EM, Kapoor WN, Chang CC, Fine MJ. Assessment of mortality after long-term follow-up of patients with community-acquired pneumonia. Clin Infect Dis 2003 Dec 15;37(12):1617-24.

- (39) Kaplan V, Clermont G, Griffin MF, Kasal J, Watson RS, Linde-Zwirble WT, et al. Pneumonia: still the old man's friend? Arch Intern Med 2003 Feb 10;163(3):317-23.
- (40) Kaplan V, Angus DC, Griffin MF, Clermont G, Scott WR, Linde-Zwirble WT. Hospitalized community-acquired pneumonia in the elderly: age- and sex-related patterns of care and outcome in the United States. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002 Mar 15;165(6):766-72.
- (41) Corbo J, Friedman B, Bijur P, Gallagher EJ. Limited usefulness of initial blood cultures in community acquired pneumonia. Emerg Med J 2004 Jul;21(4):446-8.
- (42) Kennedy M, Bates DW, Wright SB, Ruiz R, Wolfe RE, Shapiro NI. Do emergency department blood cultures change practice in patients with pneumonia? Ann Emerg Med 2005 Nov;46(5):393-400.
- (43) Chalasani NP, Valdecanas MA, Gopal AK, McGowan JE, Jr., Jurado RL. Clinical utility of blood cultures in adult patients with community-acquired pneumonia without defined underlying risks. Chest 1995 Oct;108(4):932-6.
- (44) Fine MJ, Auble TE, Yealy DM, Hanusa BH, Weissfeld LA, Singer DE, et al. A prediction rule to identify low-risk patients with community-acquired pneumonia. N Engl J Med 1997 Jan 23;336(4):243-50.
- (45) BTS Guidelines for the Management of Community Acquired Pneumonia in Adults. Thorax 2001 Dec 1;56(90004):1iv-64.
- (46) Sackett DL, Haynes RB, Guyatt GH, Tugwell P. Clinical Epidemiology A Basic Science for Clinical Medicine. Second edition ed. 2009.
- (47) Kopelman PG. Obesity as a medical problem. Nature 2000 Apr 6;404(6778):635-43.
- (48) Falagas ME, Kompoti M. Obesity and infection. Lancet Infect Dis 2006 Jul;6(7):438-46.
- (49) Obestiy: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. World Health Organization; 2000. Report No.: 894.
- (50) Rothman KJ. BMI-related errors in the measurement of obesity. Int J Obes (Lond) 2008 Aug;32 Suppl 3:S56-S59.
- (51) Obesity and overweight. WHO, http://www.who int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/index.html 2006
- (52) Controlling for the global obesity epidemic. WHO, http://www.who int/nutrition/topics/obesity/en/index.html 2009

- (53) Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2000. JAMA 2002 Oct 9;288(14):1723-7.
- (54) James PT, Rigby N, Leach R. The obesity epidemic, metabolic syndrome and future prevention strategies. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2004 Feb;11(1):3-8.
- (55) Bendixen H, Holst C, Sørensen TI, Raben A, Bartels EM, Astrup A. Major increase in prevalence of overweight and obesity between 1987 and 2001 among Danish adults. Obes Res 2004 Sep;12(9):1464-72.
- (56) Stallone DD. The influence of obesity and its treatment on the immune system. Nutr Rev 1994 Feb;52(2 Pt 1):37-50.
- (57) Lamas O, Marti A, Martinez JA. Obesity and immunocompetence. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002 Aug;56 Suppl 3:S42-S45.
- (58) Tanaka S, Inoue S, Isoda F, Waseda M, Ishihara M, Yamakawa T, et al. Impaired immunity in obesity: suppressed but reversible lymphocyte responsiveness. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1993 Nov;17(11):631-6.
- (59) Wolowczuk I, Verwaerde C, Viltart O, Delanoye A, Delacre M, Pot B, et al. Feeding our immune system: impact on metabolism. Clin Dev Immunol 2008;2008:639803.
- (60) Chandra RK. Immune response in overnutrition. Cancer Res 1981 Sep;41(9 Pt 2):3795-6.
- (61) Solomons NW. Malnutrition and infection: an update. Br J Nutr 2007 Oct;98 Suppl 1:S5-10.
- (62) Poulain M, Doucet M, Major GC, Drapeau V, Series F, Boulet LP, et al. The effect of obesity on chronic respiratory diseases: pathophysiology and therapeutic strategies. CMAJ 2006 Apr 25;174(9):1293-9.
- (63) McClean KM, Kee F, Young IS, Elborn JS. Obesity and the lung: 1. Epidemiology. Thorax 2008 Jul;63(7):649-54.
- (64) Ochs-Balcom HM, Grant BJ, Muti P, Sempos CT, Freudenheim JL, Trevisan M, et al. Pulmonary function and abdominal adiposity in the general population. Chest 2006 Apr;129(4):853-62.
- (65) Koenig SM. Pulmonary complications of obesity. Am J Med Sci 2001 Apr;321(4):249-79.
- (66) Bergstrom A, Pisani P, Tenet V, Wolk A, Adami HO. Overweight as an avoidable cause of cancer in Europe. Int J Cancer 2001 Feb 1;91(3):421-30.

- (67) Formiguera X, Canton A. Obesity: epidemiology and clinical aspects. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2004 Dec;18(6):1125-46.
- (68) Kopelman P. Health risks associated with overweight and obesity. Obes Rev 2007 Mar;8 Suppl 1:13-7.
- (69) Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, Darbinian J, Go AS, Iribarren C. Elevated blood pressure and risk of end-stage renal disease in subjects without baseline kidney disease. Arch Intern Med 2005 Apr 25;165(8):923-8.
- (70) Chiolero A, Faeh D, Paccaud F, Cornuz J. Consequences of smoking for body weight, body fat distribution, and insulin resistance. Am J Clin Nutr 2008 Apr;87(4):801-9.
- (71) Tolstrup JS, Heitmann BL, Tjønneland AM, Overvad OK, Sørensen TI, Grønbaek MN. The relation between drinking pattern and body mass index and waist and hip circumference. Int J Obes (Lond) 2005 May;29(5):490-7.
- (72) Kuczmarski MF, Kuczmarski RJ, Najjar M. Effects of age on validity of self-reported height, weight, and body mass index: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. J Am Diet Assoc 2001 Jan;101(1):28-34.
- (73) Gunnell D, Berney L, Holland P, Maynard M, Blane D, Frankel S, et al. How accurately are height, weight and leg length reported by the elderly, and how closely are they related to measurements recorded in childhood? Int J Epidemiol 2000 Jun;29(3):456-64.
- (74) Flier J.S, Maratos-Flier E. Biology of Obesity. In: Fauci AS, Braunwald E, Kasper DL, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, et al., editors. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. 17th ed. 2008.
- (75) Colditz GA, Willett WC, Rotnitzky A, Manson JE. Weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in women. Ann Intern Med 1995 Apr 1;122(7):481-6.
- (76) Chan JM, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Obesity, fat distribution, and weight gain as risk factors for clinical diabetes in men. Diabetes Care 1994 Sep;17(9):961-9.
- (77) Screening for type 2 diabetes mellitus in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med 2008 Jun 3;148(11):846-54.
- (78) Benfield T, Jensen JS, Nordestgaard BG. Influence of diabetes and hyperglycaemia on infectious disease hospitalisation and outcome. Diabetologia 2007 Mar;50(3):549-54.
- (79) Boyko EJ, Fihn SD, Scholes D, Abraham L, Monsey B. Risk of urinary tract infection and asymptomatic bacteriuria among diabetic and nondiabetic postmenopausal women. Am J Epidemiol 2005 Mar 15;161(6):557-64.

- (80) Muller LM, Gorter KJ, Hak E, Goudzwaard WL, Schellevis FG, Hoepelman AI, et al. Increased risk of common infections in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Infect Dis 2005 Aug 1;41(3):281-8.
- (81) Shah BR, Hux JE. Quantifying the risk of infectious diseases for people with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2003 Feb;26(2):510-3.
- (82) Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 2005 Jan;28 Suppl 1:S37-S42.
- (83) Powers AC. Diabetes Mellitus. In: Fauci AS, Braunwald E, Kasper DL, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, et al., editors. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. 17th ed. 2008.
- (84) Cowie CC, Rust KF, Byrd-Holt DD, Eberhardt MS, Flegal KM, Engelgau MM, et al. Prevalence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose in adults in the U.S. population: National Health And Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2002. Diabetes Care 2006 Jun;29(6):1263-8.
- (85) Fox CS, Pencina MJ, Meigs JB, Vasan RS, Levitzky YS, D'Agostino RB, Sr. Trends in the incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus from the 1970s to the 1990s: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2006 Jun 27;113(25):2914-8.
- (86) Carstensen B, Kristensen JK, Ottosen P, Borch-Johnsen K. The Danish National Diabetes Register: trends in incidence, prevalence and mortality. Diabetologia 2008 Dec;51(12):2187-96.
- (87) Bagdade JD, Nielson KL, Bulger RJ. Reversible abnormalities in phagocytic function in poorly controlled diabetic patients. Am J Med Sci 1972 Jun;263(6):451-6.
- (88) Bagdade JD, Root RK, Bulger RJ. Impaired leukocyte function in patients with poorly controlled diabetes. Diabetes 1974 Jan;23(1):9-15.
- (89) Delamaire M, Maugendre D, Moreno M, Le Goff MC, Allannic H, Genetet B. Impaired leucocyte functions in diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1997 Jan;14(1):29-34.
- (90) Marhoffer W, Stein M, Maeser E, Federlin K. Impairment of polymorphonuclear leukocyte function and metabolic control of diabetes. Diabetes Care 1992 Feb;15(2):256-60.
- (91) Koziel H, Koziel MJ. Pulmonary complications of diabetes mellitus. Pneumonia. Infect Dis Clin North Am 1995 Mar;9(1):65-96.
- (92) Smith SA, Poland GA. Use of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines in people with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2000 Jan;23(1):95-108.

- (93) Kitabchi AE, Umpierrez GE, Murphy MB, Barrett EJ, Kreisberg RA, Malone JI, et al. Hyperglycemic crises in diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004 Jan;27 Suppl 1:S94-102.
- (94) Van den BG, Wouters P, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, Schetz M, et al. Intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill patients. N Engl J Med 2001 Nov 8;345(19):1359-67.
- (95) Van den BG, Wouters PJ, Bouillon R, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Schetz M, et al. Outcome benefit of intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill: Insulin dose versus glycemic control. Crit Care Med 2003 Feb;31(2):359-66.
- (96) Vanhorebeek I, Langouche L, Van den BG. Tight blood glucose control with insulin in the ICU: facts and controversies. Chest 2007 Jul;132(1):268-78.
- (97) Inzucchi SE, Siegel MD. Glucose control in the ICU--how tight is too tight? N Engl J Med 2009 Mar 26;360(13):1346-9.
- (98) Finfer S, Chittock DR, Su SY, Blair D, Foster D, Dhingra V, et al. Intensive versus conventional glucose control in critically ill patients. N Engl J Med 2009 Mar 26;360(13):1283-97.
- (99) Horowitz M, O'Donovan D, Jones KL, Feinle C, Rayner CK, Samsom M. Gastric emptying in diabetes: clinical significance and treatment. Diabet Med 2002 Mar;19(3):177-94.
- (100) Almdal T, Scharling H, Jensen JS, Vestergaard H. The independent effect of type 2 diabetes mellitus on ischemic heart disease, stroke, and death: a population-based study of 13,000 men and women with 20 years of follow-up. Arch Intern Med 2004 Jul 12;164(13):1422-6.
- (101) Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Koro CE, Ephross SA, Brown JB. The incidence of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetes: an update. Diabetes Care 2004 Aug;27(8):1879-84.
- (102) Thomsen RW, Kasatpibal N, Riis A, Nørgaard M, Sørensen HT. The impact of preexisting heart failure on pneumonia prognosis: population-based cohort study. J Gen Intern Med 2008 Sep;23(9):1407-13.
- (103) Ardigo D, Valtuena S, Zavaroni I, Baroni MC, Delsignore R. Pulmonary complications in diabetes mellitus: the role of glycemic control. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy 2004 Dec;3(4):455-8.
- (104) Manson JE, Ajani UA, Liu S, Nathan DM, Hennekens CH. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and the incidence of diabetes mellitus among US male physicians. Am J Med 2000 Nov;109(7):538-42.

- (105) Will JC, Galuska DA, Ford ES, Mokdad A, Calle EE. Cigarette smoking and diabetes mellitus: evidence of a positive association from a large prospective cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2001 Jun;30(3):540-6.
- (106) Carlsson S, Hammar N, Grill V, Kaprio J. Alcohol consumption and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a 20-year follow-up of the Finnish twin cohort study. Diabetes Care 2003 Oct;26(10):2785-90.
- (107) Skull SA, Andrews RM, Byrnes GB, Campbell DA, Kelly HA, Brown GV, et al. Hospitalized community-acquired pneumonia in the elderly: an Australian case-cohort study. Epidemiol Infect 2009 Feb;137(2):194-202.
- (108) Vila-Corcoles A, Ochoa-Gondar O, Rodriguez-Blanco T, Raga-Luria X, Gomez-Bertomeu F. Epidemiology of community-acquired pneumonia in older adults: a population-based study. Respir Med 2009 Feb;103(2):309-16.
- (109) Marrie TJ. Bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia: a continuously evolving disease. J Infect 1992 May;24(3):247-55.
- (110) Houston MS, Silverstein MD, Suman VJ. Risk factors for 30-day mortality in elderly patients with lower respiratory tract infection. Community-based study. Arch Intern Med 1997 Oct 27;157(19):2190-5.
- (111) Akbar DH. Bacterial pneumonia: comparison between diabetics and non-diabetics. Acta Diabetol 2001;38(2):77-82.
- (112) Falguera M, Pifarre R, Martin A, Sheikh A, Moreno A. Etiology and outcome of community-acquired pneumonia in patients with diabetes mellitus. Chest 2005 Nov;128(5):3233-9.
- (113) Fletcher RH, Fletcher SH. Clinical epidemiology The essentials. 4th ed. Lippincott Williams & Williams; 2005.
- (114) Mortensen EM, Coley CM, Singer DE, Marrie TJ, Obrosky DS, Kapoor WN, et al. Causes of death for patients with community-acquired pneumonia: results from the Pneumonia Patient Outcomes Research Team cohort study. Arch Intern Med 2002 May 13;162(9):1059-64.
- (115) Nielsen GL, Sørensen HT, Zhou W, Steffensen FH, Olsen J. The Pharmacoepidemiologic Prescription Database of Norh Jutland - a valid tool in pharmacoepidemiological research. Int J Risk Safety Med 1997;(10):203-5.
- (116) Sørensen HT, Christensen T, Schlosser HK, Pedersen L. Use of Medical Databases in Clinical Epidemiology. 2008.

- (117) Thomsen RW, Hundborg HH, Lervang HH, Johnsen SP, Schønheyder HC, Sørensen HT. Risk of community-acquired pneumococcal bacteremia in patients with diabetes: a population-based case-control study. Diabetes Care 2004 May;27(5):1143-7.
- (118) Schønheyder HC. [Two thousands seven hundred and thirty nine episodes of bacteremia in the county of Northern Jutland 1996-1998. Presentation of a regional clinical database]. Ugeskr Laeger 2000 May 15;162(20):2886-91.
- (119) Frank L. Epidemiology. When an entire country is a cohort. Science 2000 Mar 31;287(5462):2398-9.
- (120) Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Boll K, Stripp C, Christensen J, Engholm G, et al. Study design, exposure variables, and socioeconomic determinants of participation in Diet, Cancer and Health: a population-based prospective cohort study of 57,053 men and women in Denmark. Scand J Public Health 2007;35(4):432-41.
- (121) Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Haraldsdottir J, Bang S, Ewertz M, Jensen OM. Validation of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire developed in Denmark. Int J Epidemiol 1991 Dec;20(4):906-12.
- (122) Overvad K, Tjønneland A, Haraldsdottir J, Ewertz M, Jensen OM. Development of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess food, energy and nutrient intake in Denmark. Int J Epidemiol 1991 Dec;20(4):900-5.
- (123) Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Modern Epidemiology. Third ed. 2009.
- (124) Thomsen RW, Hundborg HH, Lervang HH, Johnsen SP, Sørensen HT, Schønheyder HC. Diabetes and outcome of community-acquired pneumococcal bacteremia: a 10-year population-based cohort study. Diabetes Care 2004 Jan;27(1):70-6.
- (125) DET NATIONALE DIABETESREGISTER 2005, Nye tal fra Sundhedsstyrrelsen 2006:24. Sundhedsstyrelsen; 2006. Report No.: 24.
- (126) Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40(5):373-83.
- (127) Tolstrup J, Jensen MK, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Mukamal KJ, Gronbaek M. Prospective study of alcohol drinking patterns and coronary heart disease in women and men. BMJ 2006 May 27;332(7552):1244-8.
- (128) Kirkwood BR, Sterne AC. Essential Medical Statistics. Second ed. 2003.
- (129) van de Garde EMW, Deneer VHM, Souverein PC, van den Bosch JMM, Leufkens HG. Validation of Community-Acquired Pneumonia: High Positive Predictive Value for ICD-9 Codes. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety 17. 2008. Ref Type: Abstract

- (130) Schneeweiss S, Robicsek A, Scranton R, Zuckerman D, Solomon DH. Veteran's affairs hospital discharge databases coded serious bacterial infections accurately. J Clin Epidemiol 2007 Apr;60(4):397-409.
- (131) Drivsholm TB, Frederiksen K, de Fine ON, Odegaard B, Kristensen JK. [The prevalence of diabetes in Denmark. Development of a method for a registry-based assessment]. Ugeskr Laeger 2003 Jul 14;165(29):2887-91.
- (132) de Groot V, Beckerman H, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. How to measure comorbidity. a critical review of available methods. J Clin Epidemiol 2003 Mar;56(3):221-9.
- (133) Jepsen P. Prognosis for Danish patients with liver cirrhosis the impact of complications, comorbidity, socioeconomic status, and galactose elimination capacity 2009.
- (134) Spaude KA, Abrutyn E, Kirchner C, Kim A, Daley J, Fisman DN. Influenza vaccination and risk of mortality among adults hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia. Arch Intern Med 2007 Jan 8;167(1):53-9.
- (135) Fisman DN, Abrutyn E, Spaude KA, Kim A, Kirchner C, Daley J. Prior pneumococcal vaccination is associated with reduced death, complications, and length of stay among hospitalized adults with community-acquired pneumonia. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Apr 15;42(8):1093-101.
- (136) Streptococcus pneumoniae. EPI-nyt 2000uge 14Available from: URL: www.ssi.sk
- (137) Lægeforeningens Medicinfortegnelse 2003/2004. 26 ed. Lægeforeningens forlag; 2003.
- (138) Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilator-associated, and healthcare-associated pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005 Feb 15;171(4):388-416.
- (139) Vila-Corcoles A, Ochoa-Gondar O, Hospital I, Ansa X, Vilanova A, Rodriguez T, et al. Protective effects of the 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in the elderly population: the EVAN-65 study. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Oct 1;43(7):860-8.
- (140) Gross PA, Hermogenes AW, Sacks HS, Lau J, Levandowski RA. The efficacy of influenza vaccine in elderly persons. A meta-analysis and review of the literature. Ann Intern Med 1995 Oct 1;123(7):518-27.
- (141) Aono S, Matsuura N, Amemiya S, Igarashi Y, Uchigata Y, Urakami T, et al. Marriage rate and number of children among young adults with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Japan. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2000 Aug;49(2-3):135-41.

- (142) Farr BM, Bartlett CL, Wadsworth J, Miller DL. Risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia diagnosed upon hospital admission. British Thoracic Society Pneumonia Study Group. Respir Med 2000 Oct;94(10):954-63.
- (143) Niedhammer I, Bugel I, Bonenfant S, Goldberg M, Leclerc A. Validity of selfreported weight and height in the French GAZEL cohort. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000 Sep;24(9):1111-8.
- (144) Das UN. Is insulin an antiinflammatory molecule? Nutrition 2001 May;17(5):409-13.
- (145) Pozzilli P, Leslie RD. Infections and diabetes: mechanisms and prospects for prevention. Diabet Med 1994 Dec;11(10):935-41.
- (146) Umpierrez GE, Isaacs SD, Bazargan N, You X, Thaler LM, Kitabchi AE. Hyperglycemia: an independent marker of in-hospital mortality in patients with undiagnosed diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002 Mar;87(3):978-82.
- (147) Capes SE, Hunt D, Malmberg K, Gerstein HC. Stress hyperglycaemia and increased risk of death after myocardial infarction in patients with and without diabetes: a systematic overview. Lancet 2000 Mar 4;355(9206):773-8.
- (148) Lemieux S, Prud'homme D, Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Despres JP. Sex differences in the relation of visceral adipose tissue accumulation to total body fatness. Am J Clin Nutr 1993 Oct;58(4):463-7.
- (149) Jackson LA, Neuzil KM, Yu O, Benson P, Barlow WE, Adams AL, et al. Effectiveness of pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in older adults. N Engl J Med 2003 May 1;348(18):1747-55.
- (150) Mangtani P, Cutts F, Hall AJ. Efficacy of polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine in adults in more developed countries: the state of the evidence. Lancet Infect Dis 2003 Feb;3(2):71-8.
- (151) Hicks LA, Harrison LH, Flannery B, Hadler JL, Schaffner W, Craig AS, et al. Incidence of pneumococcal disease due to non-pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7) serotypes in the United States during the era of widespread PCV7 vaccination, 1998-2004. J Infect Dis 2007 Nov 1;196(9):1346-54.
- (152) Pneumoni hos voksne diagnostik og behandling. http://www aalborgsygehus rn dk/Afdelinger/Kliniske+serviceafdelinger/Klinisk+Mikrobiologisk/For+fagfolk/Klinis ke+vejledninger+-+instrukser/ 2009
- (153) Vestbo J, Benfield T. Pneumonibehandling. http://www.irf dk/download/pdf/rf/2003/Nr_12%20955810mbr pdf 2003
- (154) Sepsispakken. http://www operationlife dk/Kampagnemateriale/Sepsis aspx 2009

(155) Thomsen RW, Hundborg HH, Johnsen SP, Pedersen L, Sørensen HT, Schønheyder HC, et al. Statin Use and Mortality within 180 days after Bacteremia: A Populationbased Cohort Study. Submitted 2006.

Appendices